
SIERRA COUNTY 

CODIFYING THE NEW MEXICO ENABLING ACT 

ORDINANCE NO: 23-005 

PASSED: ____________ 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 30 DAYS 



SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

ORDINANCE № 23-005 

CODIFYING THE NEW MEXICO ENABLING ACT 

PREAMBLE:

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners met upon notice of a Business 
Meeting, duly published, at the Sierra County Administration Building, 444 Luna Avenue, Los 
Lunas, New Mexico 87031 on November 14, 2023, at 10:00 AM as required by law; and,  

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 3-18-1 (1972) provides that municipalities, and also counties 
pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 (1995), have the power to “protect generally the 
property of its municipality and its inhabitants” and to “preserve peace and order”; and, 

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 et seq. (1975) provides that counties may adopt 
ordinances, not inconsistent with statutory or constitutional limitations placed on counties, to 
discharge those powers necessary and proper to provide for the safety, preserve the health, 
promote the prosperity and improve the morals, order, comfort and convenience of the county 
and its inhabitants. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Sierra County Board of Commissioners that 
Sierra County will not recognize nor enforce any State Law, Mandate or Order that violates or is 
contrary to, the provisions of the Enabling Act for New Mexico. The ratification of the 
“Compact with the United States” and Proclamation Admitting New Mexico as a State into the 
Union on January 6, 1912, established the State of New Mexico is an inseparable part of the 
federal union and the Constitution of the United States as the supreme law of the land. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Sierra County Board of 
Commissioners that any Law, Mandate or Order issued by the Government of the State of New 
Mexico or agent thereof that is contrary to the Constitution of the United States is void and not 
enforceable within the boundaries of this County. 

ADOPTED, APPROVED AND ORDAINED on this ___ day of _____________2023. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY 



 
 
______________________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman  
 
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 
 
 

 



SIERRA COUNTY 

INDIGENT HEALTH CARE 
ORDINANCE  

NO. 23-006 

PASSED: _____________ 

EFFECTIVE:  __________ 

Page 1 of 15 



Page 2 of 15 

SIERRA COUNTY 
ORDINANCE NO. 23-006

AN ORDINANCE CONCERNING INDIGENT HOSPITAL CLAIMS TO REPLACE 
ALL ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED BY THE 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, New Mexico, is 
required by law to sit as the Sierra County Indigent Hospital Claims Board for the purpose 
of administering the Indigent Hospital and County Health Care Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 
27-5-1 to 27-5-18 (1965, as amended through 2004), and adopting Rules and Regulations 
for the processing of said claims; and,

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Indigent Hospital Claims Board has seen the need to adopt 
Rules and Regulations for the processing of Indigent Hospital Claims; and, 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Indigent Hospital Claims Board desires to establish a 
maximum income for any individual who may seek to claim benefits under the Indigent 
Hospital Claims Act from Sierra County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Sierra County Board of Commissioners 
as follows: 

SECTION 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.1 Title.   This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as the “Sierra County Indigent 
Hospital/Health Care (IHC) Ordinance” and shall be referred to herein as the IHC 
Ordinance. 

1.2 Authority.  This Ordinance is created pursuant to the Indigent Hospital Claims and 
County Health Care Act, Section 27-5-1 NMSA 1978 et seq. 

1.3 Purpose.  The purpose of this ordinance is to assist the indigent residents of Sierra 
County to obtain health care.  To further this goal, the County has adopted this 
ordinance which recognized the County’s responsibility to assist indigents in paying 
for health care.  

1.4 Interpretation.  The County Manager shall interpret the meaning ot the provisions of 
this Ordinance.  Whenever any provision of this Ordinance conflicts with other laws, 
rules, regulations or ordinances, the more restrictive shall govern. 

1.5 Approval of Claims by the IHC Board.   All IHC Claims paid to eligible recipients 
shall be approved by the Board of County Commissioners, sitting as the IHC Board.   

1.6 Decision in Writing.  The IHC Board shall state in writing the reasons for their decision 
to approve or disapprove any claim.  



Page 3 of 15 

1.7 Administrative Expenses.   In accordance with Section 27-5-1 NMSA 1978, a 
percentage of funds received by the County shall be reserved and budgeted for 
administrative expenses.  The funds budgeted as administrative expenses shall not be 
available for payments of IHC Claims. 

1.8 Claims Subrogation.   The IHC Board is permitted to recover costs and payments in 
accordance with Section 27-5-14 and 27-5-15 NMSA 1978. 

1.9 Open Meetings.  The IHC Board shall conduct their meetings in accordance with the 
Open Meetings Act, Section 10-15-1 NMSA 1978. 

1.10 Appendices.  The schedules attached to this Ordinance as appendices may be revised, 
modified or amended by resolution of the Board of County Commissioners. 

1.11 Amendments.  Amendments to this Ordinance shall be approved by the IHC Board at a 
public hearing after providing notice of the public hearing in accordance with New 
Mexico State Statutes. 

1.12 Severability.  It is the intent of the governing body that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, 
clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph or section of the Ordinance shall be determined to be invalid for any  
reason, such invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 
paragraphs and sections of the Ordinance. 

SECTION II – DEFINITIONS 

The following terms are defined to be used for the purpose of this ordinance, regardless of 
common usage of such terms, or usage for other purposes. 

CLAIM:  Billing statements for an episode of illness, injury or other medical treatment as 
deemed necessary to an indigent patient. 

CLAIMANT:  A person who makes a claim for IHC assistance for medical services he or 
she received. 

CLAIMANT’S AGENT:  The individual authorized to provide consent for treatment of 
the claimant as specified in the New Mexico Hospital Association Legal Handbook. 

CLAIMANT’S REPRESENTATIVE:  The provider or individual that is authorized by 
the claimant or the claimant’s agent to submit a Formal Application on behalf of the 
claimant. 

CO-INSURANCE DAYS:  The total sum of money the patient is expected to pay as per 
co-insurance days which usually the sixty-first (61st) through the ninetieth (90th) day in 
each benefit period for which the patient pays the required amount per day himself.  The 
reserve period from the ninetieth (90th) day through the one hundred fiftieth   (150th) day 
for which the patient pays the required amount per day.  This reserve period is only sixth 
(60) days in the patient’s lifetime.
Definition is subject to change and will be applicable as defined in the Medicare Manual.



Page 4 of 15 

ELECTIVE SURGERY OR TREATMENT:  Non-emergency  hospital surgery or 
treatment, as recommended by physician(s).   This treatment is not medically necessary to 
the patient’s health or well-being, but can be requested by the patient. 

EMPLOYED OR CONTRACTED:  A physician that is employed by or contracts with a 
medical provider or provides services which are billed by the medical provider for the 
provider on routine, normal or regular basis.  

EMERGENCY:  Medical care required for a serious medical condition resulting from 
injury or illness that arises suddenly and required immediate care and treatment to avoid 
jeopardy to the life or health of an individual.  

HOME HEALTH AGENCY:  A profit or non-profit organization which provides 
Skilled Nursing Care, Physical Therapy, Speech or Occupational Therapy, Home Health 
Aide, medical supplies and prescribed medication to an indigent patient.  This 
organization is required to be certified and licensed by Medicare and the State of New 
Mexico. 

HOSPICE SERVICES:  An organization which provides care for the terminally ill 
patient which is licensed and certified by Medicare and the State of New Mexico.. These 
services include physicians’ services, skilled nursing care, physical and speech therapy, 
pastoral care, medically necessary prescribed medication related to terminal care, 
equipment, intravenous and other supplies. 

INDIGENT: “Indigent” is based on the definition of “indigent patient” pursuant to 
NMSA 27-5-4, Paragraph C, that defines indigent patient as persons to whom an 
ambulance service, a hospital or medical provider determined to be eligible under the 
provisions of the ordinance has provided medical care or ambulance transportation and 
who can normally support himself and his dependents on present income and liquid assets 
available to him but, taking into consideration this income and those assets and his 
requirement for other necessities of life for himself and his dependents, is unable to pay 
the cost of such medical services.  The policy of the IHC Board, established by the rules 
and regulations of this ordinance pursuant to NMSA 27-5-6, Paragraph C, specifies the 
provisions and criteria for determining which persons are qualified indigent persons and 
therefore eligible to receive IHC assistance, consistent with the above referenced statutory 
provision, that are deemed necessary to carry out the provisions of the Indigent Hospital 
and Health Care Act.  The IHC Board has permitted the use of the Sierra County IHC 
Income Schedule as a tool to be used to determine the income for an individual or family. 

LIQUID ASSETS:  Assets that can quickly or easily be converted to cash (bank accounts, 
CD’s, marketable securities, etc.). 

MEDICALLY INDIGENT:  An individual that needs medical care or treatment, but due 
to their individual circumstances are financially unable to pay the cost of such treatment.  
An individual that earns up to 150% of the Federal Poverty Guidelines is medically 
indigent for the purposes of this Ordinance. 

MEDICAL PROVIDER:  Any general or limited care certified hospital, institution or 
agency that is properly licensed and certified to provide medical services, and may be 



Page 5 of 15 

eligible to receive IHC reimbursement for medical services based on the provisions 
specified in this ordinance. 
 
NON-EMERGENCY SURGERY OR TREATMENT:  The treatment or surgical 
procedure that is not for an emergency condition, but is medically necessary to the well 
being of the patient.  This treatment is eligible for assistance. 
 
NON-EMERGENCY TRANSPORTATION:  The transporting of indigent patients by a 
non-emergency vehicle.  This type of transport does not require any medical treatment to 
be rendered to the patient, unless as otherwise specified in the provider agreement with the 
Department of Transportation. 

 
OUTPATIENT HOSPITAL SERVICES:  Hospital sponsored ambulatory care service 
for medical or surgical treatment of one or more organizational units, or components 
thereof, of the hospital, that are under the responsibility of the hospital and through which 
non-emergency health services are provided to patients who do not need to remain the 
hospital overnight as defined in the JCAH Manual.  Outpatient services are provided by 
Home Health Agencies, Hospice Providers, and Community Health Centers. 
 
PRENATAL SERVICES:  A patient uses the same process and making an application 
with the County.  The Indigent Hospital/Health Care Office pre-approves the eligible 
patient for services within three (3) days of receiving the application. 
 
PRIMARY HEALTH CARE:  Means the first level of basic or general health care for an 
individual’s health needs, including medical and dental diagnostic and treatment services, 
prescribed medication, referrals and supportive services.  All dental services must be 
provided in coordination with primary medical services.  Primary medical services are 
those provided as part of general family practice, obstetrics, gynecology, pediatrics, 
general surgery, or general internal medicine. 
 
PRO-RATA FORMULA:  Approval or payment of ICH claims when different hospital 
or ambulance providers are involved in the treatment of a patient will be based on a 
percentage of the charges pro-rated to the amount of total claims submitted within a ninety 
(90) day period from the beginning date of the treatment.  The Pro-Rated percentage of all 
claims will be calculated from each provider and will be paid their percentage of the 
determined yearly maximum limit per claim. 

 
Section III – IHC Eligibility Provision 
 
3.1 Individuals Eligible for IHC Assistance.  Individuals are eligible for IHC assistance if 

(1) they qualify as medically indigent; and (2) they have been residents of Sierra 
County for at least ninety (90) days. 

 
3.2 Individuals Not Eligible for IHC Assistance.  Individuals are not eligible for 

assistance if (1) they are eligible for medical assistance from the NM Human Services 
Department as specified in Section 27-5-3 NMSA 1978; (2) do not qualify as 
medically indigent; (3) do not meet the residency requirements; or (4) individuals 
under the age of 18, unless the individual is married or emancipated. 

 



Page 6 of 15 

3.3 Residency Requirements.  All eligible individuals must be residents of Sierra County 
for at least ninety (90) days prior to receiving medical services.  Claimants must 
provide proof of residency such as : (1) A copy of Sierra County Driver’s 
License/Picture I.D; (2) A notarized Proof of Residency form completed by a non-
related landlord or individual verifying that the patient has resided in Sierra County 
for at least ninety (90) days; (3) voter registration; (4) payment receipt of a utility bill, 
rental agreement, etc.  College students attending college outside of the County shall 
be considered primary residents of Sierra County.  

 
3.4 Medically Indigent Persons Eligibility. In addition to residency requirements, a 

claimant is qualified as medically indigent and eligible to receive IHC assistance if 
the person or the person’s spouse or dependent, is determined under the provisions of 
this Ordinance to be unable to pay for eligible medical treatment or care that has been 
received after the individual has attempted to make payment and has exhausted all 
other financial resources for such payment ot the extent possible, taking in 
consideration the person’s income and family’s size based on the following provisions 
and criteria; 

 
A. Basic Eligible Annual Income Criteria.  In order to be qualified as    

medically indigent and eligible for IHC assistance, a claimant’s annual 
household income as determined in Paragraph 3.4C of this Section, shall not 
be greater than 150% of the Federal Income Guidelines. 

 
B. Payment by Claimant.  Once claimant is deemed as eligible, the  
      claimant, claimant’s spouse and/or dependent(s) must agree to exhaust   
      every financial resource of the family, to the extent possible, to make   
      payment(s) of their medical bills.  This includes all insurance or other  
      programs or funding assistance available to the claimant. 
      Claimants are eligible to receive IHC assistance for insurance       

           deductibles, Medicare deductibles, co-insurance days or co-insurance  
            pay. 

 
C. Determination of Annual Income.  The income indicated on claimant’s   
      most recent Federal or State income tax return will be accepted as the    
      claimant’s annual income, unless the claimant’s income has changed due   
      to a loss of a job, a substantial decrease or increase to income.  In these   
      circumstances, the current monthly income shall be taken into   
      consideration in order to determine eligibility.  Pay stubs or some other   
      form may be used to verify this change to income.  The claimant is  
      required to provide a complete Federal or State income tax return, the  
      claimant is required to complete a notarized tax waiver form with an  
      attached copy of the claimant’s social security card. 
 

(1) Claimants that own their business must additionally submit a Profit     
       and Loss Statement prepared by a CPA in order to be considered for    
       IHC funding. 
 
(2) IHC Income.  The County utilizes the Federal Poverty Guidelines as a 

measure for eligibility, and allows the IHC staff to use the adjusted 
gross income based on the number of individuals in a house hold or 



Page 7 of 15 

family. An expectant mother’s unborn child will be included in 
determining the family or household eligibility. 

(3) Child support payments will be considered in determining the
annual income of claimant.

(4) Medical Garnishments will be a deduction for establishing
household income.

(5) Medical Spend Down:  Claimants annual income may be reduced by
the amount of regular payments made to medical providers within
the previous twelve (12) months, if the payments are for services that
were not covered by this policy.

D. Assets.  A household that has liquid assets in the amount of $20,000 or
less and an individual which has liquid assets in the amount of $10,000
or less will be eligible for indigent health care claims assistance.

3.5 Medical Providers Eligible for IHC Approval or Reimbursement. 

1. A general or limited hospital licensed by the Department of Health, whether
owned by a political subdivision, not-for-profit or for-profit corporation, or a
licensed out-of-state  hospital, approved by the Department of Health, where
treatment provided is necessary for the proper care of an indigent patient when
that care is not available in an in-state hospital.

2. An in-state home health agency licensed and certified by Medicare and the State
of New Mexico.

3. An in-state hospice which is licensed and certified by Medicare and the State of
New Mexico.

4. An in-state ambulance provider.

5. Behavioral health providers eligible medical care and treatment services as
specified by this Ordinance.

6. Licensed Medical Doctor, Osteopathic Physician, Dentist, Optometrist or
Expanded Practice Nurse who provides emergency services in a hospital to an
Indigent patient.

Only the above-listed medical providers are eligible for IHC reimbursements. 

3.6 Medical Treatment Eligibility and Payment.  Eligible persons may receive IHC 
       assistance for medical care and treatment received from an eligible medical       

provider as listed in Section 3.5.  Whenever insurance or Medicare payments exceed 
the established payment percentage, or limit, no approval of  payment will be made.  
Should the insurance or Medicare payment fall below the determined annual 
percentage, the applicant may be assisted with the remaining balance.  In 
circumstances where there are multiple providers and the medical expenses will reach 



Page 8 of 15 

the maximum limitation amount, the Pro-Rata formula will be used to calculate the 
amount of reimbursement to each medical provider.  IHC claims will be based on the 
order that expenses for treatment are incurred up to the maximum.  Payment will be   

       made in the order claims are approved by the IHC Board. 

A. Claim Eligibility and Limitations for IHC Approvals or Payment. The Indigent
Hospital and Health Care Act Section 27-5-1 (NMSA 1978) limits approvals or
payments to “actual costs” for hospital care normally consisting of general
medical treatment, and shall not exceed the determined established annual
limits per patient and providers as set forth by the IHC Board in Appendix 1.
Application for IHC payment may be submitted after the treatment is complete,
or after the billing or the treatment is received.

(1) Ambulance transportation – These services are allowed based upon the
expense incurred to include the care and transport of a patient to the
“nearest” general or limited hospital.  Claims that reach the maximum
allowed policy limit may be subject to the Pro-Rata payment formula
whenever there are multiple providers.

(2) Home Health Services – These services are allowed based on the actual
need of the patient.  Services include supplies, skilled nursing services,
home health aids, prescribed medication, physical therapy, occupational
and speech therapy.  These services should be provided as deemed
necessary for the patient’s care and reimbursed to the provider at the rates
specified on the provider agreement.  The total sum of IHC payments shall
be considered as a separate expense above any other medical claim limits
and shall be limited to the established annual limit per patient.  Services
must be provided by a contracted home health provider licensed and
certified by Medicare and the State of New Mexico.  The total payments to
a contracted home health service provider shall not exceed the established
annual limit as determined by the IHC Board.

(3) Hospice Care Service – These services are allowed based on the actual
need of the patient.  The total sum of IHC payments for these services shall
be considered as a separate expense form the other medical claim limits.
The total sum of IHC payments for these services shall be considered as a
separate expense from the other medical claim limits.  The total sum of
IHC payments for these services shall be considered as a separate expense
from the other medical claim limits.  The total sum of payment shall not
exceed the established annual limit per patient. The total payment to a
contracted Hospice provider shall not exceed the established annual limit
as determined by the IHC Board.

(4) Mental Health Services – One claim per fiscal year will be permitted or
psychiatric treatment services rendered by a contracted behavioral health
care provider.  One treatment for attempted suicide will also be permitted
within the same fiscal year.  The combination of both of these treatments
will not exceed the determined policy limit for approval or payment as set
fort by the IHC Board.



Page 9 of 15 

(5) Pregnancy-related Claims – One or more obstetrical deliveries or   
pregnancy-related illnesses shall not exceed the established fiscal year 
claim limit for each eligible individual.  This includes the cost of the 
prenatal care clinic, delivery charges, and possibly the payment of the 
newborn charge. 

 
(6) Substance Abuse -  IHC approval or payment is available for only one 

inpatient substance abuse claim when deemed medically necessary, as well 
as unlimited outpatient substance abuse claims.  However, the sum of both 
inpatient and outpatient treatment cannot exceed the policy limit.  Also, the 
total sum of all IHC payments to any approved behavioral health care 
provider shall not exceed the established annual limit per provider. 
 

(7) Primary Care Services - Primary care services are provided to individuals 
for the basic or general health care needs of the patient. 

 
(8)  Physicians - A licensed medical doctor, certified registered nurse 

anesthetist, certified nurse practitioner, osteopathic physician, dentist, 
optometrist or  expanded practice nurse when providing emergency 
services, as determined by the IHC Administrator, in a hospital to an 
indigent patient; or a licensed medical doctor or osteopathic physician, 
dentist, optometrist or expanded practice nurse when providing services in 
an outpatient setting, as determined by the IHC Administrator, to an 
indigent patient with life threatening illness or disability. 

 
          (9) Other services.  The IHC Administrator may allow other services which will 
  benefit all indigent patients as deemed necessary. 

 
B. Claims Not Eligible for Payment.  The following claims are not eligible for   
     payment: (1) hospital elective surgery or treatment; (2) nursing home care;           
     (3) medical social worker; (4) nutrition counseling; and (5) primary care co-
pays and prescription co-pays. 

 
3.7 Detainees.  Individuals arrested by the Sierra County Sheriff’s Office and/or detained 

by Sierra County shall be considered medically indigent for the purpose of this 
Ordinance. 

 
SECTION IV – APPLICATION FOR IHC ASSISTANCE. 
 
4.1 IHC Application Provisions.  The provisions of this Section are required in order for 

an application to be accepted and considered by the County for IHC assistance. 
 
4.2 Applicant Cooperation.  Failure of applicant’s cooperation in providing the County 

authorization to obtain information is grounds for denial of application. 
 

4.3 Application Submissions. An application may be submitted after treatment is 
complete or after the billing for the treatment is received. 

 



Page 10 of 15 

4.4 Acceptance of IHC Applications. The County, at its discretion, may refuse to accept 
any application that does not include all required information or documents requested 
by the County. 

 
4.5 Application Verification.  Formal applications shall include but not be limited to the 

following: 
 

A. Name, address and other personal identification of the patient/claimant as deemed 
appropriate by the County. 

 
B. Name of patient/claimant, agency, medical provider, or other representative 

submitting the application.  If other than the patient, the application shall include 
specific authorization in writing, signed by the claimant, or the patient’s agent if 
the patient is unable to sign, that the representative is authorized to submit the 
application on their behalf. 

 
C. Proof of residency to include Sierra County Driver’s License/Picture I.D., voter 

registration, and/or other information as deemed necessary by the County to verify 
residency requirements. 

 
D. Proof of income to include Federal or State tax returns, pay stubs, and/or other 

information as deemed necessary by the County to verify annual income and 
availability of assets.  If the claimant does not file a current return, a notarized tax 
waiver form must be completed.  The claimant will be required to provide a  copy 
of his or her social security card along with the tax waiver form. 

 
E. The claimant must not be eligible for Medicaid or other assistance provided by the 

State of New Mexico Human Services Department, unless a written denial from 
Medicaid for financial ineligibility is received and submitted with the IHC 
Application. 

 
F. Evidence to verify that all other sources of payment such as insurance, Medicare, 

Medicaid etc. will make payment or that a pay source is not available due to 
patient’s ineligibility or due to the provider’s failure to submit a claim to the 
appropriate agency, which resulted in a denial to the payee. 

 
G. Itemized bills which include the treating diagnosis of all charges submitted for 

IHC approval or payment that have been billed by an eligible medical provider.  
These billings will be based on provisions of Section 4 of this Ordinance.  Claims 
with multiple providers may be held open for sixty (60) days in order for all 
providers to submit their bills.  Payments will be based on the pro-rata formula. 

 
4.6 Application Deadline.  A formal application with the required documentation, must     
be submitted to the County IHC office no later than ninety (90) days from the first date 
medical treatment or services were received.  Claims received after the ninety (90) day 
deadline will not be considered for payment, unless the County IHC Administrator 
determines that an exception can be made due to extraordinary circumstances. 
 

A. The applicant will have ninety (90) days in which to file with the medical  
      provider that rendered services.  The claimant must provide the necessary   



Page 11 of 15 

      documentation to this provider unless the medical provider is located  
      outside the County.  In this circumstance, the applicant must return the   
      completed application to the County IHC office. 
      If the additional requested information is not received within the allotted    
      time, the claim will be closed.  Once the claim is complete, the claim will be    
      approved at the next scheduled monthly IHC Board meeting. 

B. All approved applications will be considered complete and current for one
(1) year from the date in which the application is executed.
Any claims received after an application is approved, the provider will be
expected to complete a supplemental claim form.  The notarized supplement
form must be signed by the adult patient to authorize the medical provide to
release necessary information to process the claim.  After the time limit has
expired for the current application, a new application will be requested with all
required documentation attached.

C. When a patient is covered by insurance, Medicare or another pay source, the
ninety (90) day claim limit will begin with the date that the pay source made
the first payment on the claim.  In circumstances in which a denial has been
received by the provider, the ninety (90) day limit will revert to the original
date of the denial.

4.7 Application Confidentiality.  All information regarding the claimant shall be kept 
strictly confidential. 

SECTION V. – PROVISION FOR IHC APPROVAL OR REIMBURSEMENT TO 
MEIDCAL PROVIDERS 

5.1 Reimbursement To Medical Providers.  Approvals or reimbursement of IHC funds by 
the County shall be made to eligible medical providers based on seventy seven 
percent (77%) of the actual billed charges or one hundred percent (100%) of the 
Medicaid rate, whichever is the lessor thereof, for eligible treatment not to exceed the 
established claim limit, except that approvals or reimbursement of IHC funds by the 
County shall be made to eligible medical providers based of the entire of the actual 
billed charges or one hundred percent (100%) of the Medicaid rate, whichever is the 
lessor thereof, for eligible treatment of individuals committed to the custody of the 
Sierra County Detention Center.  Charges shall be submitted on itemized bills with 
the treating diagnosis form the medical provide(s).  The charges for such services 
shall not exceed the normal charges to other patients.  Approvals or reimbursements 
will be made to medical providers after obtaining authorization from the IHC Board. 

5.2 Overcharges.  Any medical provider found to be overcharging or billing greater than 
the normal charges to other patients for itemized services reimbursed by IHC payment 
is in violation of the provisions of this Ordinance.  The IHC Board may, at its 
discretion, reduce the IHC payment of billed charges to a percentage between 20% 
and 65% of billed charges.  The reduced percentage of payment may be assessed for 
any length of period up to twelve (12) months.  The provider shall be given the 
opportunity to provide its justification and documentation to the County prior to such 
action being implemented.  The County may, at its discretion, hire an independent 



Page 12 of 15 

auditor paid for by the medical provider to determine overcharges.  Medical providers 
shall provide to the County or its representative all information requested to verify 
charges. 

 
5.3 Reimbursement Limited to Available Funds.  Outstanding IHC claims that have been 

approved by the IHC Board will be paid by the County to each eligible medical 
provider with available Indigent Fund revenues that have been received by the 
County.  Payment will be made based on the order of approved claims by the IHC 
Board.  If revenues are all exhausted or encumbered, the outstanding claims will be 
paid based upon: (1) the order of approval by the IHC Board; (2) current complete 
claims; and (3) aging claims which have been completed. 

 
5.4 Withholding of IHC Payments.  IHC payments shall be withheld pending the 

disposition of medical payments form other possible sources, such as insurance, 
workers’ compensation, or State and Federal funding that may cover the expenses.  
Upon evidence that the other possible sources will not make payment, IHC funds may 
be approved for payment consistent with the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
5.5 Screening and Collections By Providers.  The medical provider is required to screen 

all potential IHC Claimants and determine if the claimant will have a remaining 
balance, a reasonable payment schedule will be made. 

 
5.6 Claims, Preparation, and Verification by Providers.  The medical provider shall assist 

the claimant in correctly and accurately preparing the formal application to be 
submitted to the County, and shall use all resources available to screen and verify the 
information submitted by the claimant for a final decision by the IHC Board. 

 
5.7 Disclosure by Medical Providers. Medical providers shall provide to the County 

reports, financial statements, random samples of paid bills or other information 
deemed necessary by the IHC Board or its representatives. 

 
5.8 Limitation for Collection by Provider.  The medical provider is required to write off 

ninety percent (90%) of the remaining balance.  The medical provider shall not pursue 
collection of a service whenever the provider is at fault in not submitting the patient’s 
charges within the ninety (90) day filing limit and the patient has cooperated and 
submitted all documents necessary to process their claim. 

 
5.9 Agreement between County and Provider.  All medical providers that are eligible for 

approval or reimbursement of IHC funds shall enter into an agreement with the 
County agreeing to abide by all provisions of this Ordinance prior to receiving any 
IHC funds.  The medical provider shall submit copies of their state license and annual 
certification as part of this ongoing agreement.  The IHC office should receive a copy 
of the renewed certification annually. 

 
SECTION VI – APPEALS 
 
6.1 County IHC Board or IHC Administrator.  Any person or medical provider who is 

adversely affected by a decision of the IHC Administrator may appeal that decision to 
the IHC Board within (15) days after the date of the action of the County IHC 



Page 13 of 15 

Administrator.  The IHC Board shall hear the appeal and render a decision in writing 
within sixty (60) days after receiving the Notice of Appeal. 

6.2 IHC Board.   Any person or medical provider who is adversely affected by a decision 
of the IHC Board may appeal that decision to the District Court within thirty (30) 
days of the action of the Board. 

SECTION VII – PENALTIES 

7.1  Criminal Penalties.  Any person or medical provider who intentionally violates the 
provision of this ordinance shall be punished by a fine not to exceed Three Hundred 
Dollars ($300.00) or imprisonment in the County Detention Center of not more than 
ninety (90) days, or both, in accordance with Section 4-37-3 NMSA 1978.  In addition, the 
person or medical provider will be required to reimburse or credit the fund. 

SECTION VIII – REPEALER 

8.1  The rules contained herein replace and supersede all previously issued rules, 
resolutions, regulations and ordinances applicable to the subject matter that is covered in 
this Ordinance, including without limitation, Sierra County Ordinance 10-004.  

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 21st day of November, 2023. 

__________________________ 
TRAVIS DAY, CHAIR 

__________________________ ATTEST BY:  
JAMES PAXON, VICE-CHAIR 

______________________________ 
SHELLY TRUJILLO, COUNTY CLERK 

__________________________ 
HANK HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER 



Page 14 of 15 

APPENDIX 1 
INDIGENT HOSPITAL/HEALTH CARE CLAIM LIMITS 

POLICY MEDICAL   TYPE OF CARE 
LIMIT SERVICES 

$15,000* Hospital  General medical treatment, or acute services  
care.  Services may be out-patient or in-patient   
treatment. Includes the cost of cancer   
treatment  

$2,500 Ambulance       Ambulance transportation by ground or air to 
 nearest facility. 

$2,500 Mental and  This care is limited to one treatment each as  
Suicidal Treatment  deemed  necessary for the patient.  The  

combination of both of  these treatments shall  
 not exceed the fiscal year limit. 

$ 3,000 Substance Abuse Treatment   This care is limited to only one in-patient  
treatment; however, patient treatment is    
unlimited as long as the sum of both in-patient 
and out-patient treatment does not exceed the   
established policy limit.  Provider is  limited  
to $30,000 per fiscal year. 

$ 2,500 Home Health Care    Medical care and treatment as deemed  
   necessary for  the patient each fiscal year in  
   accordance with Section 3.5, (2). Evidence to  
   verify is required. Contracted provider is  
   limited to $20,000 per fiscal year. 

$ 2,500 Hospice Care     Medical care and treatment as deemed  
    necessary for the care of the patient.  Each 
    contracted provider will be limited to  
    $20,000 per fiscal year. 

$2,500 Prenatal & Maternity      A lifetime of three pregnancies will be  
Related Service       allowed per client.  The fiscal year limit will 

     include the cost for   prenatal care, obstetric  
     charges, newborn charges** and  

   miscarriages.  Provider limit will not exceed 
     $20,000 in any fiscal year. 

$2,500        ER Physicians                  Reimburse for medical care administered, as  
   determined by the board, on emergency basis 
   only at a Hospital, at Medicaid fee-for-service 
   rates. Contracted providers limited to $20,000 
   per fiscal year.     

*Services that will exceed the annual claim limit will be pro-rated for reimbursement to each medical provider
which rendered the patient’s treatment or care.



Page 15 of 15 

 **Newborn charges which incur complications and will exceed the established mother’s limit will be 
established as a separate claim. 
 
Note: The approved limits indicated on this appendix are subject to change each fiscal year based on the 
amount of the Indigent Fund Revenues received.   



 

 
Sierra County Commission 

Sierra County Commission Chambers  
1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 

Tuesday December 19th, 2023 
 

AMENDED 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WILL BE ABLE TO WATCH AND LISTEN TO THE MEETING VIA: 

(facebook.com/SCEmergencyServices) (Local radio KCHS 101.9) 
 
 
Call to Order: 9:45  Public Hearing on Ordinance 23-005 Codifying The New Mexico 

Enabling Act 
 9:50  Public Hearing on Ordinance 23-006 Indigent Healthcare Ordinance 

10:00 AM Regular Meeting 
 
Roll Call:      Travis Day-Chairman                Shelly K. Trujillo-Clerk 

        James E. Paxon-Vice-Chair   Nance, Pato & Stout, LLC-Attorney 
       Hank Hopkins -Commissioner               Amber Vaughn-County Manager 

 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
New Mexico State Flag Pledge-I salute the flag of the State of New Mexico and the Zia symbol of perfect 
friendship among united cultures. 
 

Introduction of Guests 
 

I. Approval of Agenda 
II. Approval of Minutes  

A. Regular Meeting – November 14th, 2023 
III. Public Comment: Limited to 3 Minutes  
IV. Consent Agenda: 

A. Resolution No. 110-200 Accounts Payable 
B. Resolution No. 110-201 Budget Adjustments 
C. Resolution No. 110-202 Indigent Claims 
D. Indigent Burial 23-009 
E. Claim of Exemption 23-005 

V. Presentations/Reports: 
A. Years of Service Awards 
B. Department Reports 
C. FY 24 Budget Report 
D. Flood Commission Annual Report 

VI. Board of Finance: 
A. November Reconciliation  

VII. Old Business:  
VIII. New Business: 

A. Approval of Donation of Ambulance from the City of Elephant Butte to Caballo VFD  
IX. Contracts-Agreements-Procurement: 

A. Amendment 1-Task Order #2- Wilson & Co.-Increase for Swine Facility 
B. Lynco Electric- CES- Arrey Facility- Lighting and Score Board 



 
C. RLC Services- SPA- 855 Van Patten-Fencing and Drainage-LACTF 
D. Olive Tree- Reset Grant- Contract 
E. Tremco/WTI- CES- Van Patten Roof Restoration Preliminary Approval 
F. LENCO-BearCat Armor Truck-Sheriff- HGACBUY 

X. Resolutions-Ordinances-Proclamations: 
A. Resolution No. 110-203 A Resolution Establishing Calendar Year 2024 Hours of Business 

and Legal Holidays 
B. Resolution No. 110-204 A Resolution Authorizing Execution of the Subgrant Agreement 

with the Department of Finance and Administration to Receive Law Enforcement Retention 
Funds 

C. Resolution No. 110-205 A Resolution Approving Out of Service Vehicles to be Placed onto 
Auction 

D. Resolution No. 110-206 A Resolution Establishing Policy Pertaining to Cremation of 
Indigents and Unclaimed Decedents 

E. Ordinance 23-005 Codifying the Enable Act 
F. Ordinance 23-006 An Ordinance Concerning Indigent Hospital Claims to Replace All 

Ordinances and Resolutions Previously Adopted by the Board of County Commissioners, 
Sierra County, New Mexico 

XI. Executive Session (Section 10-15 E thru H): 
Pending and Threatened Litigation: 
BoCC v. Woolf 
Personnel 
Real Estate: 

XII. Open Session Actions from Executive Session:  
A. Adjourn 
 

 
Next proposed Scheduled Meeting: Regular Meeting, Tuesday, January 16th, 2024, at 10:00 AM. Items 
for the agenda must be submitted to the Sierra County Administration Office no later than 5:00pm on 
the Monday the week before the meeting. 
 

 
If you are an individual with a disability who is in need of a reader, amplifier, qualified sign language 
interpreter, or any other form of auxiliary aid or service to attend or participate in the hearing or 
meeting please contact the Sierra County Manager, at 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, New 
Mexico 87901, phone (575) 894-6215 at least one (1) week prior to the meeting or as soon as possible.  
Public documents, including the agenda and minutes, can be provided in various accessible formats. 
Please contact the Sierra County Manager if a summary or other type of accessible format is needed. 
 
 



 

      
          SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
        NOVEMBER 14, 2023 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:   10:00 am Regular Meeting  
 

The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Regular Session 
at 10:00 A.M. on Tuesday, November 14, 2023, at the Sierra County 
Commission Chambers, 1712 N Date St, Truth or Consequences, New 
Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member-Absent 
  
 Clerk of Board: Shelly K. Trujillo  
 
 County Attorney: David Pato 
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
   
Dan Steele, Josh Baker, Ruben Lucero, Brad Spencer, Chuck Wentworth-
Sentinel, Mike Hearn 
             

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the agenda as presented.  
Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioners District 1-2 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A. Regular Meeting-October 17, 2023 
 
 

 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
November 14, 2023 
Page 2 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the minutes as 
presented.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2 voting yes.  

III. PUBLIC COMMENT: LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES

Merry Jo Fahl stated that any funds the County can generate to help the
Geronimo Springs and Hamilton Museums will be greatly appreciated. 

Steve Dobrott is in favor of the license plate for the museums.  He would 
appreciate the support from the commission. 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA:

A. Resolution No. 110-197- Account Payables

B. Resolution No. 110-198- Budget Adjustments

C. Resolution No. 110-199- Indigent Claims

D. Claim of Exemption #23-004

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Consent Agenda as 
presented.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 

V. PRESENTATIONS/REPORTS:

A. Years of Service award
B. Department Reports

VI. BOARD OF FINANCE:

A. October Reconciliation

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the April Reconciliation 
as presented.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  

VII. ELECTION CANVASS

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to recess and convene as the County 
Canvassing Board.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  
Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
November 14, 2023 
Page 3   

 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to accept the Canvass of the 2023 
Regular Local Election as presented.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED 
the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 

 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to come out of recess and back into 

the Regular meeting.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  
Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 

 
VIII. OLD BUSINESS: 

 
IX. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
A.  Approval to Sponsor Space New Mexico License Plate 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Approval to Sponsor 

Space New Mexico License Plate as presented.  Commission Chair Day 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioners District 1-2 
voting yes.  

      
X. CONTRACTS – AGREEMENTS – PROCUREMENT 

 
A.  Road-NM DOT Projects-(3) Quotes per Project-Contech 
   
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Road-NM DOT 

Projects-(3) Quotes per Project-Contech as presented.  Commission Chair 
Day SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 
1-2 voting yes. 

 
B.  Road-CES-A Mountain Construction-LACTF 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Road-CES-A Mountain 

Construction-LACTF as presented.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED 
the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 

 
C.  State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 

93100 Capital Appropriation Project H23-2308 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve State of New Mexico 
Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital Appropriation 
Project H23-2308as presented.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED the 
motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 
 
D.  State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 

93100 Capital Appropriation Project H23-2309 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
November 14, 2023 
Page 4   

 

   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve State of New Mexico 
Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital 
Appropriation Project H23-2309 as presented.  Commission Chair Day 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 
voting yes. 

 
E.  State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 

93100 Capital Appropriation Project H23-2312 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve State of New Mexico 

Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital 
Appropriation Project H23-2312 as presented.  Commission Chair Day 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 
voting yes. 

 
F.  State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 

93100 Capital Appropriation Project H23-2313 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve State of New Mexico 

Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital 
Appropriation Project H23-2313 as presented.  Commission Chair Day 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 
voting yes. 

 
G.  Memorandum of Understanding between Administrative Office of the 

Courts and Sierra County for the Purpose of Supporting a Cross System 
Collaboration for Individuals with Mental Illnesses or C-occurring Mental 
Health and Substance Abuse Disorders who Come into Contact with the 
Justice System 

 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Memorandum of 

Understanding between Administrative Office of the Courts and Sierra 
County for the Purpose of Supporting a Cross System Collaboration for 
Individuals with Mental Illnesses or C-occurring Mental Health and 
Substance Abuse Disorders who Come into Contact with the Justice System 
as presented.  Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 

 
 

XI. RESOLUTIONS – ORDINANCES – PROCLAMATIONS 
 

A.  Election Officials Proclamation 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Election Officials 
Proclamation as presented.  Commission Chair SECONDED the motion.  
Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2 voting yes. 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
November 14, 2023 
Page 5   

 

 
 

  XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION SECTION (10-15-E THRU H): 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to go into Executive Session for 

Personnel, Real Estate, Pending and Threatened Litigation.  Commission 
Chair Day SECONDED the motion. Roll call vote was taken with all 
Commissioners present voting yes.   
 
            District 1 – Yes 
 District 2 – Yes 
 District 3 – Absent 

 
            PENDING AND THREATENED LITIGATION: 
 
 BOCC v. Woolf 
 Coulter v. BOCC 
                                                                
           PERSONNEL: 
   
            REAL ESTATE:  
 
            DISPOSAL OF REAL PROPERTY 
 
            XII. OPEN SESSION ACTIONS FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to come back into Regular Session.  
Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  Roll call vote was taken, 
with all Commissioners present voting yes. 

 
 

 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT REGULAR SIERRA COUNTY 
COMMISSION MEETING:  
 
The date and time of the next Regular Sierra County Commission Meeting 
has been scheduled for Tuesday, December 19, 2023 at 10:00 A.M. at the 
Sierra County Commission Chambers at 1712 N Date, Truth or 
Consequences, New Mexico. 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to adjourn the meeting. 
Commission Chair Day SECONDED the motion.    
 
ADJOURNMENT:  
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting.  



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
November 14, 2023 
Page 6   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated this 14th day of November, 2023. 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James E Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Shelly K Trujillo, County Clerk 
 

   
 





































































































































































State of New Mexico

Shelly K. Trujillo
County Clerk
575-894-2840

Candace Chavez
Couttty Treasurer

575-894-3s24

Michael Huston
Countlt Assessor

575-894-2589

Tom Pestak
Probate Judge
575-7404900

lncrease Expensq
402-50-2330
413-80-2250

413-80-2441

500-00-2094
427 -00-2771

500-78-2105

500-75-2105

512-09-2550

512-00-2900

512-02-2999

512-07-2225

County of Sierra

Amber Vaughn, County Manager
575-894-621 5 voice 575-894-9548 fax

Resolution No. 110-201
A BudgeULine ltem Adjustment Resolution lncrease Revenue and Expense in Funds 402,629,413,

500,427,512,401, 509, 510, 405, and 422 and Decrease Expense in 428.

Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners, meeting in regular public session

Decembet 19,2023, deem it necessary to increase and decrease in the said line items in the budget;

Whereas, money received from City of Elephant Butte for work done on broom, money received from State

of NM Energy, Minerals & Resources Department for third quarter billing, reimbursement of meal to Ray

Mullins, June 2023 bill paid in July, expenses paid out of wrong Fund, money received from National Opioid

Settlement Fund and NM Attorney General, money received from State of NM Fire Protection Grant

Council, increase expenses to cover negative balances in LATCF, new Grant for Virginia Lee and Salary &

Benefit increases taking affect in January;

Thefore Be lt Resolved, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby move to

lmplement the line item adjustments in the FY 2023-2024 Operating Budget as described below

1712 N. Date, Suite D
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901

E merg ency Manage ment-Refunds/Rei m bu rseme nt

Nationa! Opioid Settlement

Monticello NMFP Grant
Hillsboro NMFP Grant

Grant Project-Reset Rental Assistance

Road-EquipmenWehicle Maintenance

Caballo Fire Dept-State Forestry Reimb.-Personnel

Caballo Fire Dept-Fuel

CLLA Compensation

National Opioid Settlement-Professional/Legal Services

Monticello Fire-Grant Equipment

Hillsboro Fire-Grant Equipment

LATCF-Building Repairs/Maintenance

LATCF-Capital Outlay

LATCF-Capital under $5000
LATCF-Supplies

James Paxon
Commissioner
575-894-621 5

Hank Hopkins
Commissioner
575-894-621 5

Travis Day
Commissioner
575-894-621 5

Joshua Baker
County Sherilf
575-894-91 50

8,291 .16

1,004, 346.92

236,990.00

70,000,00

90,000.00

965.00
43.95

479.80

46,110.00

1,004,346.92
236,990.00

70,000.00

8,442.40

25,269.19

1,342.37

3,885.00

SIERRA COUN
NEW ]VIEXICO

lncrease Revenue
629-0-1260

427 -0-1093

500-0-10s6

500-0-1067

500-0-1433



512-50-2747
500-68-2106
401-01 -2002

401-01 -2662

401-01 -2007

401-01-2660

401-02-2002

401-02-2007
401-02-2662
401-02-2660
401-04-2002
401-04-2002
401-04-2007
401-04-2660

401-06-2002

401-06-2007

401-06-2660

401-07 -2007

401-07-2660

401-07 -2002

401-07 -2004

401-09-2007

401-09-2662
401-09-2660

401-09-2002

402-50-2007

402-50-2662

402-50-2660
402-50-2002

509-38-2002

509-38-2007

510-37 -2002

510-37-2007
629-03-2007

629-03-2660

629-03-2002
401-08-2002
401-08-2007

401-08-2660

405-67-2004

405-67 -2007

401-06-2002

422-66-2002

401-06-2007

422-66-2007

401-06-2660

422-66-2660

6,441 .37

80,000.00
9,429.00

189.00

1,443.00

3,728.00
3,1 13.00

476.00
189.00

371.00

9,429.00
2,571.00
393.00

2,527,00

1,458.00

223.00

1,351.00

255.00

1,428.00

1,666.00

346.00
1,666.00

218.00

5,378.00

10,886.00

1,335.00

175.00

4,337.00

8,725.00
1,278.00

196.00

906.00

139.00

522.00

811.00

3,413.00

1,619.00

248.00

701.00

855.00
131.00

1,262.00

842.00

193.00

129.00

608.00

406.00

LATCF-Bridge of Grace

Reset Rental Assistance-Contract Services

Administration-Full Time Salaries

Administration-Retiree I nsu rance

Admi nistration-F I CA Match

Ad ministration-Group I nsurance

Facilities Mgmt-Full Time Salaries

Facilities Mgmt-FICA Match

Facilities Mgmt-Retiree lnsurance

Facilities Mgmt-Group !nsurance

Clerk-Full Time Salaries

Clerk-Full Time Salaries

Clerk-FICA Match

Clerk-Group lnsurance

Assessor-Full Time Salaries

Assessor-FICA Match

Assessor-Group lnsu rance

Treasurer-FICA Match

Treasurer-Grou p ! nsu rance

Treasurer-Full Time Salaries

Treasurer-Part Time Salaries

Detention-FICA Match

Detention-Retiree ! nsurance

Detention-Group lnsurance

Detention-Full Time Salaries

Road DepartmentFlCA Match

Road Department-Retiree lnsurance

Road Department-Group Insurance

Road Department-Full Time Salaries

DWI Distribution-Full Time Salaries

DWI Distribution-FICA Match

DWI Grant-Full Time Salaries

DWI Grant-FICA Match

Emergency Management-FICA Match

Emergency ManagementGroup lnsurance

Emergency Management-Full Time Salaries

Sheriff-Ful! Time Salaries

Sheriff-FICA Match

Sheriff-Grou p I nsu rance

Landfi ll-Part Time Salaries

Landfill-FICA Match

Assessor-Full Time Salaries

Reappraisal-Full Time Salaries

Assessor-FICA Match

Reappraisal-F ICA Match

Assessor-Grou p lnsu rance

Reappraisal-Group !nsurance



Decrease Expense
428-00-2094 CLLA Compensation

Passed, Approved and Adopted this 19th day of December 2023.

Board of County Commissioners
Sierra County, New Mexico

Attest: Travis Day, Chairman

James Paxon, Vice-Chairman

Shelly K. Trujillo, County Clerk Hank Hopkins, Member

$ 46,1 10.00



State of New Mexico

Shelly Trujillo
County Clerk
575-894-2840

Candace Chavez
County Treasurer

575-894-3524

Michael Huston
Countlt Assessor

575-894-2589

Tom Pestak
Probate Judge
575-894-2840

1712 Dute
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901

Amber Vaughn County Manager
5 7 5-894-62 I 5 voice 57 5-894-9 548 far

County of Sierra

Travis Day
Chairman

575-894-621 5

ll/illiam Hopkins
Commissioner
575-894-621 s

James Paxon
Vice-Chairman
575-894-621 5

Josh Baker
County Sheriff
575-894-9r 50

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
SIERRA COUNTY, NEW NEXICO

Resolution No. ll0-202

Indigent Claims

WIIEREAS, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners has received Indigent Hospital and Medical
Claim request for those persons unable to make proper restitution for Medical Services in the amount of
6894.57 new claims, and;

WIIEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners desire to provide for the equitable and
reasonable payment of claims, and;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby approve
payment to those Indigent Hospital Claims in the amount of:

Sole community Providers in the amount of $ 6894.7

to be deducted from the proper funds appropriated in the 2023-2024PY Budget. December 19. 2023

Board of County Commissioners
Sierra County, NM

TRAVIS DAY, CHAIRMAN

JAMES PAXON, VICE-CHAIRMAN

Attest

SHELLY K. TRUJILLO
SIERRA COLTNTY CLERK

NEW MEXICO
SIERRA COUN

WILLIAM HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER



SIERRA COLTNTY INDIGENT HEALTH CARE
RESOLUTION NO. 11 0-202

CLAIMS APPROVED FOR $ 6894.57

VENDOR# 12775 LTINA COUNTY DETENTION

VENDOR# 5616 CHETAH SHIVAIL\N4 DDS

VENDOR# 5494 CASSIE HEALTH CENTER

VENDOR# 853 GILA REGIONAL MEDICAL

VENDOR# 5464 CONCORD RADIOLOGY

VENDOR# 2853 MIMBRES MEMORIAL

Total

1 $ 2788.42

2 $ 1753.69

l $ 148.18

2 $ 1609.71

4 $ 276.04

l $ 318.s3

6894.57



O!HS

lssued 12107123

Source Description

Source Totals Report
County Of Sierra

Batch Dates 1211912023 through 1211912023
For Vendor: All Vendors

Amount Billed Amount Paid

01

02
04
05
07

Source Totals Report Detail
lnvoice #

Jail - Physician Services
Jail - ln House lnmate Service
Jail - Hospital Out-Patient
Jail - Lab/X-Ray
Jail - Dental

350.00
2,788.42
1,810.12

16,515.15
1,764.31

148.18
2,788.42

318.53
1,885.75
1,753.69

Expenditures
Reimb/Adjustments

Grand Total

Source

23,228.00 6,894.57

23,228.00 6,894.57

DOS Amount Billed Amount Paid

16274.5494*6

I invoices, 1 line items

INMATE*2775*29
lNMATE.2775.2g
lNMATE.2775*29
lNMATE.2775.2g
lNMATE.2775*29

1 invoices, 5line items

1 5095.2953*3
1 5095.2953*3
1 5095.2953*3

1 invoices, 3 line items

1 6333.5464"2
16333.5464*3
1 6333.5464*4
1 5095.5464*2
1 5095.5464*2
1 5095.5464*2
16274.953.2
16274.953*2
16274.953*2
16274*953*2
16274.953.2
16274.853*2
16274.953.2
16274.953.2
16274.953.2
16274.853"2
16274"953.2
16274*853*2
16274.853*2

01 10127 t2023

11114t2023
11t15t2023
11115t2023
0711912023
0711912023

10t19t2023
10t19t2023
10t19t2023

350.00 148.18

02
02
02
02
02

350.00

299.10
591.41
123.92
216.00

1,557.99

148.18

299.10
591.41
123.92
216.00

1,557.99

2,788.42 2,788.42

04
04
04

05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05
05

561.98
655.22
592.92

105.42
105.42
107.69

1,910.12

320.00
218.00
223.00
40.00
39.00
34.00

105.00
514.00
372.00

39.00
330.00
161.00
407.00
139.00
628.00

75.00
696.00
628.00
133.00

318.53

08117 t2023
08t17t2023
0811712023
10t19t2023
1011912023
10t19t2023
0811512023
0811512023
0811512023
08115t2023
0811512023
08115t2023
08115t2023
0811512023
0811512023
0811512023
0811512023
0811512023
0811512023

102.97
65.79
71.84
12.72
12.36
10.36
14.41
71.33
20.78
10.28
12.67
11.72
9.48
9.02
3.59
3.59
6.35
4.60
9.32



16274.853.2
16274*853*2
16274*853*2
16274.853.2
16274"853.2
16274.853*1
16274*853*1
16274*853*1
16274*853*1
1627 4*853.1
16274*853.1
16274*853.1
16274-853.1
16274*853*1
16274.853.1
16274"853*1
16274*853.1
1627 4"853* 1

16274.853*1
16274.853.1
16274.853.1
1627 4.853" 1

16274.853*1
1627 4*853.1
16274*853.1
1627 4"853.1
16274.853*1
16274*853.1
16274.853.1
16274.853.1
16274.853.1
16274.853" 1

16274"853.1
1627 4*853.1
16274*853*1

6 invoices, 54 line items

16274.5616.1
16274.5616.1
16274.5616.1
1627 4.5616.1
16274.5616"1
16274*5616*1
16274.5616.1
16274.5616.1
16081*5616*2
16081*5616"2
16091*5616"2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616"2
16081*5616*2
16081*5616*2

08t152A23
0811512023
08t1512023
0811512023
0811512023
06t1612023
0611612023
0611612023
0611612023
0611612023
06t1612023
06t1612023
06t1612023
06t1612023
0611612023
0611612023
06t1612023
06t16t2023
0611612023
06t16t2023
06t1612023
0611612023
06t1612023
06t1612023
0611612023
06t1612023
06t1612023
06t1612023
0611612423
0611612023
06t16t2023
0611612023
0611612023
0611612023
06t16t2023

10t2112023
10t2112023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t2112023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10121t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
10t21t2023
1012112023

990.00
1,086.00

843,30
363.30

21.00
1.84

19.95
45.00
39.00

330.00
34.00

133.00
151.00
94.00

121.00
175.00

2,731.00
2,731.00

34.02
39.90
31.50
31.50
22.05
21.00
22.05
19.95
19.95
25.20

114.10
43.68
22.76
39.90
30.45
25.75

961.00

135.70
119.94
371.89

0.27
0.71
0.00
0.00
0.00
8.06
9.93
3.22
7.30
7.59
2.98
8.09

69.30
332.99
277.28

0.11
0.76
0.13
0.13
3.29
0.65
0.17
0.09
0.09
0.12
0.07
0.00
0.00
0.00
2.49
0.09

59.13

16,515.15 1,885.75

35.24
28.94
22.28

1 18.04
1 18.04
118.04
118.04

17.81
28.94
11.14
11.14
11.14
11.14

123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82

35.24
28.94
1 1.66

118.04
1 18.04
118.04
118.04

17.81
28.94
11.14
11.14
11.14
11.14

123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82
123.82



16081"5616*2

2 invoices, 22 line items 1,764.31 1,753.69

Grand Totals

{ I invoices listed.
85 line items listed.

23,228.00 6,894.57

07 1012112023 123.82 123.82



State of New Mexico

Shelly Trujillo
County Clerk
575-894-2840

Candace Chavez
County Treasurer

575-894-3524

Michael Huston
Coun$t Assessor

575-894-2589

Tom Pestak
Probate Judge
s7s-894-2840

1712 Date St.
Truth or Consequences, New Mertco 87901

Amber Vaughn, County Manager
5 7 5-894-62 1 5 voice 57 5-894-9 548 fax

County of Sierra

Travis Day
Chairman

575-894-621 5

Hank Hopkins
Commissioner
575-894-62 I 5

James Paxon
Vice-Chairman
575-894-62 I 5

Joah Baker
County Sheriff
575-894-9r50

Novemb er 29,2023

Amber Vaughn
1712 Date St.

Truth or Consequences, NM 87901

RE: Cremation Approval-Scott Lydick 82023 -009

Dear Ms. Vaughn:

Mr. Gilliland died 1012512023. Mr. Lydick has some assets but no one has come forward to
claim Mr. Lydick. I have sent a letter to Patrisha Lydick but received no response. I recommend
that the County go ahead and assume the financial responsibility for cremation.

Thank you for your attention in this matter, and if you should have any questions or comments,
please let me know.

Thank You,

Lanta Engle
IHC Clerk

County Manager-Amber Vaughn

Approved on
5+ duyofui-mhty"*W

NEW MEXICO
IERRA COUN



FAMILY TUNERAL HOME, INC.

SIERRA CREMATORY, LLC

November 6, 2023

Amber Vaughn, Sierra County Manager
County of Sierra
l7l2 N. Date Street, Suite D
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901

RE: Indigent Claim For: Scott Patrick Lydick
Date of Death: October 25 ,2023

Dear Ms. Vaughn:

We are requesting your signature on the attached Authorization for Cremation form so
we can proceed with obtaining a Cremation Permit from the Office of the Medical
Investigator for the cremation of Scott Patrick Lydick. Mr. Lydick died at his residence
in Caballo on October 25,2023. The Office of the Medical Investigator located his son,
Scott Lydick, Jr. though our office has never been able to make contact with his son. We
have attached an Application for Indigent Burial for approval. The Offrce of the Medical
Examiner issues the Cremation Permit to us free of charge for Indigent Cases as long as
we send them documentation from your office that the case has been approved.

We will appreciate all your efforts and thank you for your consideration and help with
regard to the County of Sierra's approval for this Indigent Burial Claim.

S

Re
OS FUNERAL HOME, INC.

Enclosure

3q 5{. Cedar St.
?.O. tsox rtz
r'tutfr or Cotuecrynces, 5{Jvl 87got
Tebyfwne
bzil gga-zsza

facsimi"b
Gzil 8ga-68ts



SIERRA CREMATORY, LLC.
P. O. Box 112 - 303 Cedar Street
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
TELEPHONE - 575 / 894-2574

AUTHORIZATION FOR CREMATION

Date of Death: ocToBER 25, 2023

FAX575/89,L6815 CrematorylD#_
The undersigned hereby ruthorizesrslEB&!.,lgBElqllqBLL!8. to cremrte the remsins ot

SCOTT PATRICK LYDICK OCTOBER25,2O23
Date of Death

That the SIERRA CREMATORY, LLC, will perform
cremation of the body and no warranties expressed or implied
are made, and damages shall be limited to the fee paid.

When cremating, the SIERRA CREMATORY, LLC, will
exercise reasonable efforts in keeping cremated remains
separate. However, because it is impossible to guarantee or
warrant that some bone particles or the residue of one
cremation could not possibly be mixed with those of another
cremation, I specifically give express permission for:

A) The cremation to take place including incidental or
inadvertent commingling of the cremains with
residue of prior cremations.

B) The processing of the cremains including crushing
or grinding and incidental commingling of the
cremains with residue from processing other cremains.

If the undersigned authorized the Mortuary or Crematory to
deliver the cremains via Priority Express Mail, he/she does
hereby agree to assume all liability for any damages that may
arise from any cause growing out of said delivery and to
indemnifl and hold harmless the MortuaryiCrematory and
Funeral Director from any and all claims relating to said
shipment. A mailing fee will be charged for packaging, Priority
Mail Express Postage, and mailing to any location within the
Continental United States. It is further agreed that if no final
arrangements are completed after (l) year following the
cremation the cremains will be disposed of in a lawful manner
without identification by Kirikos Fomily Funeral Home, Inc.

First Name Middle Last

That he/she has the leeal rieht to authorize and direct the
cremation, interment and/6r disposition of said remains and agrees
to hold the above Crematory dnd Kirikos Family Funeral l{ome,
Inc.,, its officers, agents and employees harmlesifrom any and ali
loss, costs, or dim6ges it or they niay suffer or incur by ieason of
acting upon the orde-r and author-izatitin set forth.

That the remains delivered to the crematory are those only of the
deceased named herein.

That the body will be delivered in a suitable, rigid container.

That the Office of the Medical Investigator's signed Cremation
Permit will accompany the body.

That the deceased has not had a pacemaker implanted or radiation-
producing implant device or any other life-su:staining device that
could be explosiva - Or, if such a device exists, he/ihe agrees to
have the Fuheral Director or others remove it before crimation.
He/she also understands that in the event of failure to notifu the
Funeral Director or others responsible for the removal of'such
device, he/she will be liable fof any damages to the Crematory or
injury to crematory personnel.

That ALL non-combustible materials delivered with the bodv will
NOT be returned with the cremated remains, but will beconie the
property of, and be disposed of by the crematory.

I understand that if it is the intention to save ANY items it is my
responsibility to remove them before cremation.

The undersigned understands the cremated remains (hereafter
referred to as the cremains) are bone fragments which will be
pulverized to permit their pl-acement in an lrn or other container.
In the event th-e capacity ofthe urn other container is insufficient to
accommodate all of the cremains., the Crematory is hereby
authorized to make disposition of the remaining cremains at iti
discretion, . unless oth'envise instructed in "writing by the
undersigned.

Thot oll chorTtcs orc to be poid bcforc cremotion con occur.

It is the responsibility of the family, NOT the Crematory or
Funeral Hohe to rirake sure alf required sisnatures 

- 
are

provided. It is also the responsibility <if ttre family, to notifo
Kilikos famity Funeral Hbme, lncj whenever iiy of ttrt
information pr6vided changes prior to death.

o(
Signature Date

Signature Date

Signature Date

)O( County Manager - 1712 N. Date, T. or C., NM 87901

Relationship Address

Relationship Address

Relationship Address

I HEREB}'A(]KNOWLEDGE RECEIPT OF THE ABOVE CRE]\IAIN

Signature Date

KIRIKOS FAMILY FUNERAL HOME, INC.

FT]NERAL DTRECToR REBECCA S. GENTRY FSp 970



SIERRA COUNTY INDIGENT BURIAL
APPLICATION AND DECLARATION STATEMENT

Check No. Approved Date_
DeniedAmoun

SCOTT PATRICK LYD tcK L012s12023 -Scott Lvdick 5 740-t960

Name of Deceased Date of Death Applicant

z1z/rg tq
Date of Birth
99 Carriage Road

Social Security # Date of Birth Social Security #

Address Previous Residence

Caballo NM 8793L

City State Zip Code
***Please Circle***

Sierra County Resident? (YES)/NO

lf YES, how long ? DO YOU HAVE TNSURANCE? YES/NO

IF YES, NAME OF INSURANCE COMPANY

Name of Nearest Living Relative

Have Medicare or Medicaid?

Address of Nearest Living Relative

WAS DEATH AS A RESULTOF ACCIDENT OR INJURY? IF YES, EXPLAIN

!S THERE ANY LEGAL ACTION PENDTNG AS RESULT OF ACCIDENT OR INJURY? YES/NO IF YES, EXPLAIN

HOW MUCH CASH DID DECEDENT HAVE? S s

ON HAND SAVINGS CHECKING

NAME OF BANK OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIO

DlD DECEDENT OWN oT RENT A HOME? VALUE BAL. OWED

IF DECEDENT WAS RENTING, NAME AND ADDESS OF LANDLORD?

DID DECEDENT OWN ANY REAL ESTATE? YES/NO IF YE' DESCRIBE REAL ESTATE, VALUE, BALANCE OWED AND
LOCATIO

WHAT IS THE APPROXIMATE VALUE OF DECEDENT'S HOUSEHOLD GOODS?

DESCRIBE ANY OTHER MAJOR ASSETS (TTEMS OF VALUE OWNED By DECEDE

VER!FIED BY:

INCOME TAX RETURN

FOR INDIGENT CLAIMS OFFICE USE ONLY

EM PLOYM ENT:

RESIDENCY

ASSESSO

RENT:

q q



SIERRA COUNTY INDIGENT BURIAL
APPLICATION AND DECLARATION STATEMENT

vEHrcLE(S) OWNED BY DECEDENT

1.

MAKE MODEL

2

MAKE

NUMBER OF DEPENDANTS?

MODEL

MONTHLY !NCOME

SOURCE OF DECEDENT'S G ROSS

SOURCE OF DECEDENT'S G ROSS

D E Brs AM D, 
"[fl'i;.'#;:fi1'-?E 

c E D E Nr

PAYMENTS TO : BALANCE AMOUNT

GROSS

PAYMENTS TO

s

s

VALUE BALANCE

VALUE BALANCE

NET

NET

S

NET

BALANCE AMOUNT

ARE ANY OF THE ABOVE ABLE TO ASSIST FINANCIALLY?

I HEREBY AUTHORIZE RELEASE OF INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ABOVE STATEMENT TO THE COUNW OF SIERRA:

I CERTIFY THAT I HAVE READ THIS APPLICATION AND SWEAR THAT THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN IT IS TRUE TO THE

BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.

I, UNDERSTAND THAT ALL INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION IS SUBJECT TO INVESTIGATION.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I AM UNABLE TO PAY FOR THE COST OF BURIAL IN THE AMOUNT OF AND

QUALIFY UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE BURIAL OF INDIGENTS. ANY FALSE STATEMENTS ON THIS FORM MADE

KNOWINGLY BY ME CONSTITUTES A FELONY AND COULD RESULT IN A PRISON SENTENCE AND/OR FINE.

DATED THIS

NOTARY PUBLTC (SEAL)

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES

DAY OF 20

(

NAME NEXT OF KIN AND ADDRESS:

NEAREST FRIEND AND ADDRESS:

q

APPL!CANT

STATE OF NEW MEXTCO)

)SS.

couNTY oF STERRA )

SUBSCRIBED TO AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME THIS_DAY OF_aO-



f nl23,1:44 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

lvlvD lVle nu MVD N EVti L{ f XICC

Motor Vehicle lnformation Search Results as of 111712023 1 :44:00 PM

The vehicle has an Expired status

Registration Status: EXPIRE

Vehicle lnformation

Body: CP

Vehicle Class: Passenger Vehicle

Cylinders:8
Fuel: G
MaKe: CADI

Mode!: DEVILL

Model Year: 1985

Number of Doors: 0

Vl N #1 : 1 G6CD 47 80F4209280

Weight:3500
Passenger Safe Quantity: 0
Primary Color: GRY

Secondary Color:
Vehicle Type: PV

lnsurance Status: Unknown

Title lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 1 4125621Ai 45609

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 0

Odometer Code: AC

Odometer Read ing: 17 8342

Sale Price:475
Title lssue Date: 51512014

Title Only: Title and Reg

Title Purchase Date: 51512014

Title Use: STNDRD

Registration I nformation

Plate Number: MXB159

County: SIERRA

DGVW:3500

Emissions Flag: False

Emissions Year Due: 0

First Year Registration: 1991

Fleet lD:0
NLET PIATE COdC: CM

NM MVD Plate Code: TRQCEN

Weight:3500
Non Use:

Plate Type: TRQCEN

Plate lssued: 9/312016

Registration Date: 1 lU2A15

Registration Suspension Date: 1 l1 10001

Registration Expire Date: 311 /201 5

Registration Type: PV

Special Plate:
CMV lndicator:0

Mobile Homes

County:
Length:
Width:
Location:
Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

Additional VlNs:
Title Assignment:

Owners: 1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 112



fin123, 1:44 PM

IVIVD : . .

First Name: SCOTT

Last Name: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: P

Residential Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: CABALLO

Residentia! State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP:87931

Liens:0

Brands: 0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

Copyright @ MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 212



fin123,1:44 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

MotorVehicle lnformation Search Results as of 11/7/20231:M:22PM

Registration Status:

Vehicle lnformation

Body: BT

Vehicle Class: Trailer
Cylinders:0
Fuel:

Make: TRIL

Model: C19118

Model Year: 1988

Number of Doors: 0

VIN #1: 1 L8T1 201 Xl1 543938

Weight:600
Passenger Safe Quantity: 0
Primary Color: BLU

Secondary Color:

Vehicle Type: TL

lnsurance Status:

Tltle lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title N u m ber: A6202421 A7 65366

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 0

Odometer Code:

Odometer Reading:0
Sale Price:0.00

Title lssue Date: 7 121 ZAAG

Title Only: Title Only

Title Purchase Date: 7 121 i20A6

Tit|e Use: STNDRD

Registrati on I nformation

Plate Number:
County:
DG\AIV:

Emissions Flag:

Emissions Year Due:

First Year Registration:
Fleet lD:

NLET Plate Code:

NM MVD PIATE COdE:

Weight:600
Non Use:

Plate Type:

Plate lssued:
Registration Date:
Registration Suspension Date: 1 /1 /0001

Registration Expire Date:

Registration Type:

Special Plate:
CMV Indicator:

Mobile Homes

County:

Length:
Width:
Location:
Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

Additional VlNs:
Title Assignment:

Owners: 1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 112



fin123, 1:44 PM

IV1VD '

First Name: SCOTT

Last Name: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: P

Residential Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: CABALLO

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP:87931

Liens:0

Brands: 0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

Copyright @ MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.gov/TLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 212



fin123,1:45 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

IVIVD

MotorVehicle lnformation Search Results as of Yn/20?31:44:56PM

The vehicle has an Expired status

Registration Status: EXPI RE

Vehicle lnformation Registration I nformation

Body: MO

Vehicle Class: Motor-Home
Cylinders:8
Fuel: G

MaKe: ALUM

Model: CLASSA

Model Year: 1986

Number of Doors: 0
VIN #1 : 1 G8KP37W3F3344286

Weight: 10000

Passenger Safe Quantity: 0
Primary Color: CRM

Secondary Color: BLU

Vehicle Type: MT

lnsurance Status: Exempt

Title lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 03051 3506497 534

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 0

Odometer Code: ED

Odometer Reading: 1 A731 4

Sale Price:0
Title lssue Date: 2/2012A03

Title Only: Title and Reg

Title Purchase Date: 212012003

Title Use: STNDRD

Plate Number:7219RVA

County: Dol(lA ANA

DGVW: i 6500

Emissions Flag: False

Emissions Year Due: 0

First Year Registration: 2003

Fleet lD:0
NLET P|ate Code:ZZ

NM MVD Plate Code: MTHPLT

Weight: 10000

Non Use:

Plate Type: MTHPLT

Plate lssued: 9B/2A16
Registration Date: 212012003

Registration Suspension Date: 1 /1 /4001

Registration Expire Date: 2/29 /2404

Registration Type: MT

Special Plate:

CMV lndicator:0

Mobile Homes

County:
Length:
width:
Location:
Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

AdditionalVlNs:
Title Assignment:

Owners: 2

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.gov/TLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 112



1117123,1:45 PM

tvvD . ,. ,

First Name: SCOTT

Last Name: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: P

Residential Street 1:1945 DEL MAR

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: LAS CRUCES

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP:88005
Mailing Street 1:1945 DEL MAR

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: LAS CRUCES

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP: 88005

Liens:0

Brands:0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

First Name: BRINDA

Last Name: LYDICK

Middle lnitial:
Residential Street 1:1945 DEL MAR

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: LAS CRUCES

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP:88005

Mailing Street 1:1945 DEL MAR

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: LAS CRUCES

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP: 88005

Copyright @ MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx
2t2



fin123,1:45 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

IVIVD

MotorVehicle lnformation Search Results as of 1117/20?31:45:08 PM

lNssus

Registration Status.

Vehicle lnformation

Body: SWV

Vehicle Class: Passenger Vehicle

Cylinders:4
Fuel: G
Make: DATS

Model: 6'10

ModelYear: 1974

Number of Doors: 0
VIN #1: H1610800186

Weight 3385

Passenger Safe Quantity: 0

Primary Color: UNK

Secondary Color:
Vehicle Type: PV

lnsurance Status: Unknown

Title lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 1 321 41 07 C651 577

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 0

Odometer Code: ED

Odometer Reading: 1 97 93

Sale Price: i 00

Title lssue Date: 81212013

Title Only: Title Only

Title Purchase Date: 81212013

Title Use: STNDRD

Registration I nformation

Plate Number:
County:
DGVW:

Emissions Flag:

Emissions Year Due:

First Yea r Registration:
Fleet lD:

NLET Plate Code:

NM MVD PIATC COdC:

Weight:3385
Non Use:

Plate Type:

Plate lssued:

Registration Date:
Registration Suspension Date: 1 l1 /0001

Registration Expire Date:

Registration Type:

Special Plate:
CMV lndicator:

Mobile Homes

County:
Length:
width:
Location:
Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

Additional VlNs:

Title Assignment:

Owners: 1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 112



fin123,1:45 PM

First Name: SCOTT

Last Name: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: P

Residential Street 1: HC31 BOX 404

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: CABALLO

Residentia! State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing Street 1: PO BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP:87931

Liens:0

Brands: 0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

Copyright O MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 212



fin23,1:53 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

tVVD

Motor Vehicle lnformation Search Results as of Y n/2a?31:53:26 PM

The vehicle has an Active status
Registration Status: ACTIVE

Vehicle lnformation

Body:
Vehicle Class: Trailer
Cylinders:0
Fuel:

Make: CM

Model: TRLR

Model Year: 2007

Number of Doors: 0

VIN #1 : 5VNBU 1 6297T056646

Weight: 1500

Passenger Safe Quantity: 0
Primary Color: BLK

Secondary Color:
Vehicle Type: TL

lnsurance Status: Exempt

Title lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 0802M21 AO37 1 25

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 0

Odometer Code:

Odometer Reading:0
Sale Price:400

Title lssue Date: 112412008

Title Only: Title and Reg

Title Purchase Date: 1 12412008

Title Use: STNDRD

Registration I nformation

Plate Number: 27622TRH

County: SIERRA

DGVW: 15OO

Emissions Flag: False

Emissions Year Due: 0

First Year Registration: 2008

Fleet lD:0
NLET P|ate Code: TL

NM MVD PIATE COdE: TRLPLT

Weight: 1500

Non Use:

Plate Type: TRLPLT

Plate lssued: 9/3/2016
Registration Date: 1 124/2008

Registration Suspension Date: 1 /1 /A001

Registration Expire Date: 12131 19999

Registration Type: TL

Special Plate:
CMV lndicator:0

Mobile Homes

County:
Length:
width:
Location:
Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

Additional VlNs:
Title Assignment:

Owners: 1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 1t2



f n23,1:53 PM

First Name: SCOTT

Last Name: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: P

Residential Street 1: H C 31 BOX 404

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: CABALLO

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing Street 1: H C 31 BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP:87931

Liens:0

Brands: 0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

Copyright @ MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx
212



1117123,1:46 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

, '.," VIVD

Motor Vehicle lnformation Search Results as of Y n /2023 1 :45:53 PlVl

rNssus

Registration Status: SUSPN D

Vehicle lnformation Registration I nformation

Body: PKK

Vehicle Class: Truck

Cylinders:8
Fuel: G
Make: FORD

Model: FORD

ModelYear: 1992

Number of Doors: 0

VIN #1 : 1 FTEF1 4HONLA42488

Weight:4000
Passenger Safe QuantitY: 0

Primary Color: RED

Secondary Color:

Vehicle Type: TK

lnsurance Status: SusPended

Title lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 1 81 665062223678

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 1

Odometer Code: ED

Odometer Reading:0

Sale Price:250.0000

Title lssue Date: 611512A18

Title Only: Title and Reg

Title Purchase Date: 611512018

Tit|e USE: STNDRD

Plate Number: RLF759

County: SIERRA

DGVW: O

Emissions Flag: False

Emissions Year Due: 0

First Year Registration: 1999

Fleet lD:0
NLET PIATC COdE: CM

NM MVD Plate code: TRQCEN

Weight:4000
Non Use:

Plate Type: TRQCEN

Plate lssued: 1 11012023

Registration Date: 1 I 1012023

Registration Suspension Date: 1 l1 10001

Registration Expire Date: 2n nA25

Registration Type: TK

Special Plate:

CMV lndicator: 0

Mobile Homes

County:
Length:
width:
Location:
Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

AdditionalVlNs:
Title Assignment:

Owners:1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.gov/TLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 112



finn3,1:46 PM

IVIVD .

First Name: SCOTT

Last NAMC: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: PATRICK

Residential Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Residential Street 2:

Residential CitY: CABALLO

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing CitY: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP:87931

Liens: 1

Lien Holder Name: NEW MEXICO TITLE LOANS INC

File Date:611412018

Maturity Date: 7 I 1 412023

Street 1: 1590 E LOHMAN AVE

Street 2:

City: LAS CRUCES

State: NM

ZIP:88001

Brands:0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

Copyright @ MVD New Mexico 2019'2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 212



f n123,1:46 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

ilSV# ful*n u IVIVD i"j 'r \,ri i'''I [: '\ i i"" ''':;

Motor Vehicle lnformation Search Results as of r n .20?3 1:46:40 PM

rNssus

Registration Status: SUSPN D

Vehicle lnformation Registration I nformation

Body: VNV

Vehicle Class: Passenger Vehicle

Cylinders:5
Fuel: G

Make: DODG

Model: CARAVA

ModelYear:2001
Number of Doors: 0

VIN #1 : 1 B4GP45391 81 36327

Weight:4300
Passenger Safe QuantitY: 0

Primary Color: RED

Secondary Color: RED

Vehicle Type: PV

lnsurance Status: Unknown

Title lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 1 927 621A31 751 30

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 0

Odometer Code: EM

Odometer Reading:0

Sale Price:300.0000

Title lssue Date: 101Y2A19

Title Only: Title and Reg

Title Purchase Date: 10/312A19

TitIE USE: STNDRD

Plate Number: AMAJ88

County: SIERRA

DGVW: O

Emissions Flag: False

Emissions Year Due: 0

First Year Registration: 2009

Fleet lD:0
NLET Plate Code: CH

NM MVD PIATC COdE: CHLPAS

Weight:4300
Non Use:

Plate Type: CHLPAS

Plate lssued: 713/2019

Registration Date: 7 11512419

Registration Suspension Date: 1 l1 /0A01

Registration Expire Date: 811 12020

Registration TYPe: PV

Special Plate:

CMV lndicator:0

Mobile Homes

County:
Length:
width:
Location:
Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

Additional VlNs:

Title Assignment:

Owners: 1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgencyiSearchResults.aspx 112



1117123,1:46 PM

First Name: SCOTT

Last NAME: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: PATRICK

Residential Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: CABALLO

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZlP:87931

Liens:0

Brands:0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

Copyright O MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 212



1117123,1:46 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

TVIVD

MotorVehicle lnformation Search Results as of rru2a?3T45:27 PM

INSSUS

Registration Status: SUSPN D

Vehicle lnformation Registration I nformation

Body: PKK

Vehicle Class: Truck

Cylinders:4
Fuel: G

MAKC: NISS

Model: PICKUP

Model Year: 1990

Number of Doors: 0

VIN #1: 1N6SD1 1Y31C401517

Weight:3400
Passenger Safe QuantitY: 0

Primary Color: SIL

Secondary Color:

Vehicle Type: TK

tnsurance Status: Unknown

Title lnformation

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 1 51 520506058356

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 1

Odometer Code: AC

Odometer Reading: 21 3000

Sale Price:300

Title lssue Date: 611 12015

Title Only: Title and Reg

Title Purchase Date: 611 12015

Title Use: STNDRD

Plate Number:294SWL

County: SIERRA

DGWV: O

Emissions Flag: False

Emissions Year Due: 0

First Year Registratian: 201 2

Fleet lD:0
NLET PIate COdE: PC

NM MVD PIATC COdE: YELCEN

Weight:3400
Non Use:

Plate Type: YELCEN

Plate lssued: 91312016

Registration Date: 31 1 12017

Registration Suspension Date: 1 l1 10001

Registration Expire Date: 41 1 12018

Registration TYPe: TK

Special Plate:

CMV lndicator:0

Mobile Homes

County:
Length:
width:
Location:

Plate 1:

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

AdditionalVlNs:
Title Assignment:

Owners: 1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.gov/TLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx
112



f nn3,1:46 PM

MVD

First Name: SCOTT

Last NAME: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: P

Residential Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Residentia! Street 2:

Residential CitY: CABALLO

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing Street 1: HC 31 BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing CitY: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP:87931

Liens: 1

LieN HOIdCT NAMC: PAYMENT 1 FINANCIAL

File Date:511412015

Maturity Date: 51 1 4/2023

Street 1: 1810 E LOHMAN AVE

Street 2:

City: LAS CRUCES

State: NM

ZIP:88001

Brands:0

Copyright @ MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 212



f n123,1:46 PM New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

hIVD Menu MVD NJ fV/ f*txtCO

MotorVehicle lnformation search Results as of rn2o731:46:10 PM

The vehicle has an Active status

Registration Status: ACTIVE

Vehicle lnformation Registrati on I nformation

Body: MH

Vehicle Class: Mobile-Home

Cylinders:0
Fuel:

MAKE: HENS

Model: HEN

Model Year: 1965

Number of Doors: 0

VIN #1:445803X

Weight: 0
Passenger Safe QuantitY: 0

Primary Color: WHI

Secondary Color:

Vehicle Type: MH

lnsurance Status: ExemPt

Title lnformation

Plate Number:30505MH8
County: SIERRA

DGVW: 10044

Emissions Flag: False

Emissions Year Due: 0

First Year Registration: 1994

Fleet lD:0
NLET PIATC COdC: MF

NM MVD PIATC COdE: MBHPLT

Weight: 0
Non Use:

Plate TyPe: MBHPLT

Plate lssued: 91312016

Registration Date: 3151201 4

Registration Suspension Date: 1 I 1 /0001

Registration Expire Date: 12131 /9999

Registration TYPe: MH

Special Plate:

CMV lndicator:0

Mobile Homes

county: SIERRA

Length:44
Width: 10

Location: HC31 BOX 404 CABALLO NM 879310000

Plate 1:30505MH8

Plate 2:

Plate 3:

Additional VlNs:

Title Assignment: LYDICK SCOTT P

Title Status: ACTIVE

Title Number: 1 51 6A407 A977 87 1

Duplicate Flag: False

Number of Liens: 0

Odometer Code:

odometer Reading:0

Sale Price:0
Title lssue Date: 61912015

Title Only: Title and Reg

Title Purchase Date: 61912015

Title Use: STNDRD

Owners:1

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx
112



fin123,1:46 PM

First Name: SCOTT

Last NAME: LYDICK

Middle lnitial: P

Residential Street 1: HC31 BOX 404

Residential Street 2:

Residential City: CABALLO

Residential State: NM

Residential ZIP: 87931

Mailing Street 1: HC31 BOX 404

Mailing Street 2:

Mailing City: CABALLO

Mailing State: NM

Mailing ZIP:87931

Liens:0

Brands: 0

New Mexico's Online Motor Vehicle Record System

Copyright @ MVD New Mexico 2019-2023

https://secure.mvd.newmexico.govffLRlnteractiveAgency/SearchResults.aspx 212





























































































































































































































SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. 110-203 

A Resolution Establishing Calendar Year 
2024 Hours of Business and Legal Holidays 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, met in a 
regular meeting on December 19th, 2023 at 10:00 A.M. in the Sierra County 
Administration Office, 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901; and, 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners deem it necessary to 
designate the regular hours of business for all County Offices and declare specific days as 
legal holidays; and, 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County 
Commissioners of Sierra County, that all County offices will be open to conduct 
business from the hours of 8:00am to 5:00pm, Monday through Friday each week. 
Except that all offices will be closed on the legal holidays hereinafter established. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that The Arrey 
Transfer Station will be open Friday 8:30 a.m. - 11:30 a.m. and Saturday 1:00 
p.m. - 4:00 p.m. The Winston Transfer Station will be open Friday and 
Saturday 8:30 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. and Hillsboro Transfer Station will be open 
Friday 1:00 p.m. -4:00 p.m. and Saturday 8:30 a.m. -11:30 a.m. The Transfer 
Stations shall be closed to the public on Christmas Day and New Year's Day.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Sierra County 
Board of Commissioners declare the following legal holidays or days of closure to be 
observed during the calendar year 2023:

Page 1 of 2



Page 2 of 2

New Year's Day 
Martin Luther King Jr.'s Day 
President's Day 
Spring Day 
Memorial Day 
Juneteenth 
Independence Day 
Labor Day 
Columbus Day/Indigenous 
People Day 
County Fair 
Veteran's Day 
Thanksgiving Holiday  

Thanksgiving Day 
Christmas Eve 
Christmas Day 
New Year's Eve 

Observed Monday, January 1st, 2024 
Observed Friday, November 29th, 2024 
Observed Monday February 19th, 2024 
Observed Friday, March 29th, 2024 
Observed Monday, May 27th, 2024 
Observed Wednesday, June 19th, 2024 
Observed Thursday, July 4th, 2024 
Observed Monday, September 2nd, 2024

Observed Monday, October 14th, 2024
Observed the Friday of the fair Close at noon
Observed Monday, November 11th, 2024
Observed Wednesday, November 27th, 2024  Close at 
noon 
Observed Thursday, November 28th, 2024
Observed Tuesday, December 24th, 2024
Observed Wednesday, December 25th, 2024 
Observed Tuesday, December 31st, 2024 Close at noon 

All County Offices will be closed and no official business will be conducted on those days 
designated for the observance of legal holidays or days of closure. 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 19th day of December 2023.

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY 

______________________________________ 
 Travis Day, Commissioner 

______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 

______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Commissioner 

Attest: 

_________________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 



 
 

SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION 110-204 
 

Resolution Authorizing Execution of the Subgrant Agreement with the Department of 
Finance and Administration to Receive Law Enforcement Retention Funds 

 
WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners met upon notice of a regular meeting, duly 
published, at the Sierra County Administrative Offices, 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, 
New Mexico 87901, on December 19, 2023; and,  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section 4-38-1 (1884) the powers of a county as a body politic 
and corporate shall be exercised by a board of county commissioners; and, 
 
WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-13 (1953) provides that board of county commissioners shall 
have power at any session to make such orders concerning the property belonging to the county as 
they may deem expedient; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the State of New Mexico has authorized that $267,500.00 be made available to Sierra 
County over three years to hire law enforcement/support positions, which funds will be disbursed 
100% up to $150,000 the first year, 50% up to $75,000 for the second year, and 25% up to $37,500 
for the third year; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners deems it advantageous to authorize the Chair of 
the Board to execute the subgrant agreement with the Department of Finance and Administration so 
that the County may receive these law enforcement protection funds to recruit law 
enforcement/support positions.   
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra 
County that it authorizes the Chairman, Travis Day, to execute the subgrant agreement with the 
Department of Finance and Administration to receive the State appropriation to recruit law 
enforcement/support positions.  
 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED on this 19th day of December 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  
OF SIERRA COUNTY 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 Travis Day, Chair 
 
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION 110-205 

Resolution Authorizing Sale of Used, Worn-Out and Obsolete 
Tangible Personal Property by Sierra County 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, met in a regular commission 
meeting on December 19, 2023, at 10:00 A.M. in the Sierra County Administration Building, 1712 N. 
Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section 4-38-1 (1884) the powers of a county as a body politic 
and corporate shall be exercised by a board of county commissioners; and, 

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-13 (1953) provides that board of county commissioners shall 
have power at any session to make such orders concerning the property belonging to the county as 
they may deem expedient; and,  

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 13-6-2 provides permits the County to dispose of tangible 
personal property valued at five thousand dollars ($5,000) or less that is used, worn-out or obsolete 
after (1) designating a committee of at least three officials of the governing authority to approve and 
oversee the disposition; and (2) giving notification at least thirty days prior to its action making the 
deletion by sending a copy of its official finding and the proposed disposition of the property to the 
state auditor and the [local Government Division of the Department of Finance and Administration], 
duly sworn and subscribed under oath by each member of the authority approving the action; and,  

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978 ,Section 13-6-2 provides, in pertinent part, that the “sale or disposition of 
real or tangible personal property having a current resale value of more than five thousand dollars 
($5,000) may be made by a . . . local public body. . .  if the sale or disposition has been approved by  . 
. . the local government division of the department of finance and administration for local public 
bodies; and,  

WHEREAS, the County is in possession of certain equipment listed on Exhibit A, incorporated 
herein by reference, that the County has determined is no longer needed by the County; and, 

WHEREAS, after securing approval from the Department of Finance and Administration on the 
disposition of the attached equipment, the County will place this equipment up for sale at a public 
auction.   



NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra 
County that it hereby determines that the proposed list of equipment is no longer needed by the 
County, that it directs the Administration to provide the DFA LGD and the State Auditor a copy of 
this Resolution and advise the same of the County intent to place the equipment for sale at a public 
auction, contingent upon securing the approval of the local government division of the department 
of finance and administration for the proposed sale of the attached equipment.   

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED on this 19th day of December 2023. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF SIERRA COUNTY 

______________________________________ 
 Travis Day, Chair 

______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chair 

______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 

Sworn and Attested by: 

_________________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 





 

SIERRA COUNTY VFD 

OUT OF SERVICE VEHICLE LIST 
 

Arrey/Derry VFD 

• 1999 GM Suburban 1500 VIN: 1GNFK16R7XJ523740 
• 1986 AM General HMMWV 1 ¼ ton – MFR. Serial # 012456 REG. # 85K2725 
• 1982 International 1900 – Fire Apparatus VIN: 2HTAF1957CCAI5797 
• 1988 Ford L9000 – Fire Apparatus VIN: 1FDYR90L9JVAO4782 

Caballo VFD 

• 1994 GM GM4 Brush truck – Fire Apparatus VIN: 1GBJK34K6REZ64890 
• 1980 Chevrolet Custom Deluxe 20 Pickup – VIN: CKM24AF377577 
• 1988 Ford Econoline 350 – Ambulance VIN: 1FDH534M5JKA65I93 
• 1986 Dodge Power Ram - Brush truck – Fire Apparatus VIN: 1B7KW24W8H5340563 

Las Palomas VFD 

• 2006 Ford F-350 Superduty – Ambulance VIN: 1FDWE35P66DB31448 
• 2006 Ford F-350 Superduty – Ambulance VIN: 1FDWE35P06DB09624 
• 1993 GM Silverado – Ambulance VIN: 1GBJK34N2PE184851 
• 1984 Chevrolet CD-30903 Pickup VIN: 1GCHD34J9EF340196 
• 1984 Chevrolet CD-30903 Pickup VIN: 1GCGD34J1EF340463 
• ?      GM C65 – Fire Apparatus VIN: CCE673V111311 
• ?      AM General 2 ½ ton M45-A2 6x6 W/W VIN: SER. # NK04VK, 0544-10036 
• 1962 White Motor Co. 2 ½ ton M49C 6x6 – SER.# 4E-3629 Stock# 2320-141-8265 
• 1958 Curtis Wright 2 ½ ton M109 6x6 WO/WN SER.# 1-44-933 Stock# 2320-835-8515 
• 1955 REO Motors 2 ½ ton M45 6x6 – SER.# 133955 Stock# G2742-7368524 
• 1969 Mack, 10 ton 6x6 winch truck – SER.# 1298 Stock# 2320-226-6081 

Cuchillo VFD 

• 1970 Chevy Custom 30 – Fire Apparatus VIN: CE339Z887975 
• 1980 Ford F-700 – Fire Apparatus VIN: F7OKVJG7763 
• 1979 Ford 900 – Fire Apparatus VIN: C9OLVEA5548 
• 1983 GMC 7000 Fire Apparatus VIN: 1GDP7D1E5DV530660 



SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. 110-206

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING POLICY PERTAINING TO CREMATION OF 
INDIGENTS AND UNCLAIMED DECEDENTS 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners met upon notice of meeting 
duly published at the Sierra County Administration Building, 1712 North Date Street, Truth or 
Consequences, New Mexico 87901 on December 21, 2023, at 10:00 a.m. as required by law; 
and,  

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra exercises the 
powers of the County as a body politic and corporate pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-
1(1884); and,  

WHEREAS, pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 24-13-1, the Board of County 
Commissioners has a statutory obligation to cause to be decently interred or cremated the body 
of any unclaimed decedent or indigent person; and, 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioner seeks to adopt this policy to govern its 
obligations pursuant to Chapter 24, Article 13, and to prevent abuses of the indigent burial 
program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of County Commissioners of 
the County of Sierra that the Board adopts the following policy as it relates to the burial of 
indigents and unclaimed decedents.    

A. The Sierra County Indigent Administrator administers the Unclaimed/Indigent Cremation
Program for deceased persons who have passed away within the geographical boundaries
of Sierra County. The mission is to provide lawful and proper burial with dignity for
those decedent residents who are indigent or go unclaimed upon death. Sierra County
respects each individual in the community and will treat all with maximum regard and
respect.



B. The below local funeral home is under contract with Sierra County to provide direct
cremation only.

Kirikos Family Funeral Home Inc.
303 N. Cedar Street
P.O. Box 112
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
(575) 894-2574

PLEASE NOTE: This program does not assist with funeral expenses, viewing at the funeral 
home or any other service at the funeral home or a place of worship, neither before nor after 
cremation. 

C. PROGRAM ELIGIBILITY.  Eligibility for the Unclaimed/Indigent Cremation Program
is based on the deceased person who must meet all three of the requirements listed below
per New Mexico State Statute upon death:

a. Indigent Status.  Deceased persons shall be considered to be an indigent if his/her
estate is insufficient to cover the cost of burial or cremation (NMSA 1978 §24-13-
2).

b. Sierra County Resident.  A resident is defined as someone who has lived in Sierra
County for a minimum of six months prior to the time of passing. If the deceased
person is declared indigent, cremation expenses shall become the responsibility of
the county of residence of the deceased person (NMSA 1978 §24-13-3). If the
decedent is not a resident of Sierra County at the time of death, Sierra County
cannot proceed any further and will send/direct to the appropriate county of
residence.  In the event that the decedent’s primary residence is out of the state of
New Mexico, but he or she passes away in Sierra County, the occurrence will be
handled on a case-by-case basis.

c. Property/Assets Ownership.  For the purposes of NMSA 1978 §24-13-2,
decedents are deemed indigent when they do not own property/assets of sufficient
value to cover the cost of burial or cremation. If the decedent is unclaimed (no
known next of kin) and had known assets or property of sufficient value to defray
the expenses of cremation or burial, per NMSA 1978 §24-13-3, invoices for the
expenses shall be forwarded to such person or official authorized by law to be
appointed administrator of the estate of the deceased to pay expenses from the
estate. Sierra County shall not accept personal belongings and/or items
accompanied with burial of indigent decedents and is not responsible for such
items.

D. SERVICES PROVIDED.  The responsibility of Sierra County, under state statute, is to
provide direct cremation only. This is defined as the disposition of a dead human body as



quickly as possible, without a funeral, graveside services, committal services or memorial 
service, whether public or private, and without embalming of the body unless embalming 
is required by the place of disposition (NMSA 1978 §61-32-3(I.)). The county shall 
ensure that the body is cremated no later than 30 days, after a determination has been 
made that the body has not been claimed, but no less than two weeks after death (NMSA 
1978 §24-13-1).  If the decedent has known legal next of kin, in accordance with state 
statute, he or she must acknowledge and adhere to the county program’s policies and 
procedures of disposition, and have no further say in the proceedings. At that time, in 
adherence with the program’s procedures and policies of disposition, Sierra County will 
then assume the responsibility for proper disposition (NMSA §24-12A-2). 

E. RELEASING OF CREMATED REMAINS.  The cremated remains may be released,
provided that the funeral home is reimbursed for its traditional and customary cost of
conducting the cremation no later than a period of two years from the time of cremation.
Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 24-13-6 (1999), the funeral director shall immediately
notify the Board of County Commissioners of the payment and immediately refund the
Board of County Commissioners the amount the County paid for the cremation.  The
Cremains will be held by the current contracted funeral home during this time. If the
decedent is a veteran, the reimbursement date may be expedited, pending verification
from the Office of Veteran Affairs.  If remains are not claimed after two years the
cremains shall be respectfully interred, the location of the burial shall be kept on file with
the County. If the decedent is a veteran, the reimbursement date may be expedited,
pending verification from the Office of Veteran Affairs. If the veteran decedent qualifies
for interment in the Santa Fe National Cemetery, the burial of cremated remains may
occur when the New Mexico Department of Veterans Services claims them, which may
be prior to two years after the date of death, and/or prior to any other party interested in
reimbursement for releasing.

F. Funding.  The burial or cremation expenses may be paid by the county out of the general
fund or the county health care assistance fund in an amount up to one thousand dollars
($1000) for the burial or cremation of any adult or minor.



 
Indigent / Unclaimed Cremation Flowchart 

 
 

 
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Did the decedent reside in the 
County or if no residence is 
known, did they die in the 

 

Deny County Cremation 

Step 2:  

Contact Relatives 

    

   

If the decedent has not been 
claimed by a friend, relative or 
other interested person 
assuming the responsibility for 
and expense of disposition shall 
be considered an unclaimed 
decedent. §21-13-1 

(Have closest relative sign 
disclaimer if applicable) 

County will pay $1000 for 
Cremation and Burial- County 
will research Estate and place 
lien on real property and file 
notice with the probate court.  
Relatives are not entitled to the 
estate until the County is 
reimbursed. 

Funds from the estate, or from 
the family (including paid to the 
funeral home) must reimburse 
the County prior to releasing 
remains to an individual. 

Yes Relatives/ Friends willing to 
pay and receive estate or a 
Veteran? Release body to 
Relatives, Friends or VA 

 

No Family, friends or 
veteran status 

 

Yes 

 

No 

 

Yes – Decedent is not a veteran but 
has Relatives/ Friends who are not 
willing to pay for the burial and the 
estate is insufficient to cover the cost 
of burial or cremation.  (Have closest 
relative sign disclaimer if applicable) 

 

 



Form “A” 
 
STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
IN THE PROBATE COURT 
SIERRA COUNTY 
 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF     No. ___________ 
________________, DECEASED. 
 

NOTICE OF SIERRA COUNTY’S PAYMENT OF INDIGENT CREMATION COSTS  
& REQUIREMENT OF THE ESTATE TO REIMBURSE THE COUNTY PRIOR TO THE 

DISTRIBUTION OF THE ESTATE TO ANY HEIR OR PRIOR TO THE PAYMENT OF ANY 
OTHER DEBT 

 
I, Sierra County Manager _________________ hereby give notice that the County of Sierra has paid 
$1000.00 for the cremation of the above captioned deceased person.   
 
NMSA 1978, Section 24-13-5 (2001) provides in pertinent part that: 
 

The board of county commissioners of any county within this state may authorize 
payment for the burial or cremation of an indigent person, as defined in Section 
24-13-2 NMSA 1978 or of an unclaimed decedent, as defined in Section 24-13-1 
NMSA 1978. All available assets of the deceased shall be used to reimburse the 
county for the cost of burial or cremation. Should the county be required to pay 
expenses for burial or cremation of an unclaimed decedent who has left an estate, 
the estate shall reimburse the county for those expenses. [ ] . 

 
Accordingly, the estate is liable for and is required to reimburse the County of Sierra the amount of 
$1000.00 and the funeral home the remainder of the costs of cremation prior to any distribution of any 
asset of the estate to heir(s) or the payment of any other debts of the deceased.  This debt to the County of 
Sierra, by operation of law, supersedes any other debt, expense or distribution.  
 
 
______________________________ 
                                   , Manager 
 
STATE OF NEW MEXICO    )  
                         )ss. 
COUNTY OF SIERRA   ) 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ___________, 20___, by 
___________________, the duly appointed Manager of the County of Sierra on behalf of the Board of 
County Commissioners.  
 
       ______________________________ 

Notary Public 
My commission expires: 
 
___________________ 
 
 



Form “B” 

CLAIM OF LIEN FOR INDIGENT CREMATION EXPENSES 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra, a 
political subdivision of the State of New Mexico, pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 3-36-1 (1981), and NMSA 1978, 
Section 4-37-1(1975) (allowing liens created under authority of law), hereby claims a lien for indigent burial 
expenses.  The authority of law is NMSA 1978, Section 24-13-5 (1999) which provides in pertinent part that (“he 
board of county commissioners of any county within this state may authorize payment for the burial or cremation of 
an indigent person, as defined in Section 24-13-2 NMSA 1978 or of an unclaimed decedent, as defined in Section 
24-13-1 NMSA 1978. All available assets of the deceased shall be used to reimburse the county for the cost of burial
or cremation. Should the county be required to pay expenses for burial or cremation of an unclaimed decedent who
has left an estate, the estate shall reimburse the county for those expenses.”   As a basis for this lien, the Board of
County Commissioners of the County of Sierra states:

(1) This lien is established pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 24-13-5 (1999);

(2) The purpose of this lien is to reimburse the County of Sierra for the payment for the indigent burial of the
decedent [insert name] whose estate was found to have adequate to pay for the burial however the family
elected not to claim the body.  Accordingly, under the law, the family may not benefit from the estate until the
County is reimbursed for the burial of their family member.

(3) The name of the owner of the property against which this lien is established, as determined from the records of
the county assessor, is [insert name];

(4) The payment was made to [funeral home name] with Purchase Order Number [ XX] dated [date];

(5) This lien is established against the following property:

a. Street Address: [insert street address]
b. Legal Description:  [insert legal description]

(6) The lien is in the amount of $1,000.00.

______________________________ 
     , Manager 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO  ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF SIERRA  ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ___________, 20___, by ____________________, 
the duly appointed Manager of the County of Sierra on behalf of the Board of County Commissioners.  

______________________________ 
Notary Public 

My commission expires: 

__________________ 



Form “C” 
Sierra County Indigent Burial Form to Relinquish Rights to Claiming Decedents Body, 

Property & Assets 

Date: ____________________ 

Name of Decedent: ___________________ 

I, _____________________________ , am the closest living relative or friend of the Decedent.  
By signing this form I hereby disclaim any rights to the body of the Decedent and by doing so 
understand that he/she is now considered unclaimed and the responsibility of the County.   
Furthermore:   
1. I understand that pursuant to New Mexico Law, NMSA 1978, Section 24-13-5 (2000) the

body will be cremated and “[a]ll available assets of the deceased shall be used to reimburse
the county for the cost of burial or cremation. Should the county be required to pay expenses
for burial or cremation of an unclaimed decedent who has left an estate, the estate shall
reimburse the county for those expenses.”    Accordingly, I am disclaiming any right to the
estate, if any.

2. I also understand that pursuant to NMSA 1978 24-13-6 (2000) if any funds are provided to a
funeral director for the cremation or burial of the decedent, those funds must first be utilized
to reimburse the County.

In the event that I, or any other person, claim the remains of the Decedent, I understand that
the County must first be reimbursed for the indigent service in the amount of $1000.00, as
well as the remaining actual cost of the cremation $________  totaling $_____________,
which shall be paid in full to the Sierra County Manager’s Office located at 1712 North
Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901

___________________________________________ 
(Signature) 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF SIERRA ) 

Subscribed and sworn before me on this _____day of ___________________, 20____ 

by______________________________________. 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 

______________________________ 
My Commission Expires 



Form “D” 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 21st day of December, 2023. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF SIERRA COUNTY 

______________________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman  

______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 

______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 

Attest: 

_________________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 



SIERRA COUNTY 

CODIFYING THE NEW MEXICO ENABLING ACT 

ORDINANCE NO: 23-005 

PASSED: ____________ 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 30 DAYS 



SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

ORDINANCE № 23-005 

CODIFYING THE NEW MEXICO ENABLING ACT 

PREAMBLE:

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners met upon notice of a Business 
Meeting, duly published, at the Sierra County Administration Building, 444 Luna Avenue, Los 
Lunas, New Mexico 87031 on November 14, 2023, at 10:00 AM as required by law; and,  

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 3-18-1 (1972) provides that municipalities, and also counties 
pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 (1995), have the power to “protect generally the 
property of its municipality and its inhabitants” and to “preserve peace and order”; and, 

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 et seq. (1975) provides that counties may adopt 
ordinances, not inconsistent with statutory or constitutional limitations placed on counties, to 
discharge those powers necessary and proper to provide for the safety, preserve the health, 
promote the prosperity and improve the morals, order, comfort and convenience of the county 
and its inhabitants. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Sierra County Board of Commissioners that 
Sierra County will not recognize nor enforce any State Law, Mandate or Order that violates or is 
contrary to, the provisions of the Enabling Act for New Mexico. The ratification of the 
“Compact with the United States” and Proclamation Admitting New Mexico as a State into the 
Union on January 6, 1912, established the State of New Mexico is an inseparable part of the 
federal union and the Constitution of the United States as the supreme law of the land. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Sierra County Board of 
Commissioners that any Law, Mandate or Order issued by the Government of the State of New 
Mexico or agent thereof that is contrary to the Constitution of the United States is void and not 
enforceable within the boundaries of this County. 

ADOPTED, APPROVED AND ORDAINED on this 19th day of December, 2023. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY 



______________________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman  

______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 

______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
Attest: 

_________________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 



SIERRA COUNTY 

INDIGENT HEALTH CARE 
ORDINANCE  

NO. 23-006

PASSED: _____________ 

EFFECTIVE:  __________ 

Page 1 of 15 



Page 2 of 15 

SIERRA COUNTY 
ORDINANCE NO. 23-006 

AN ORDINANCE CONCERNING INDIGENT HOSPITAL CLAIMS TO REPLACE 
ALL ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED BY THE 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, New Mexico, is 
required by law to sit as the Sierra County Indigent Hospital Claims Board for the purpose 
of administering the Indigent Hospital and County Health Care Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 
27-5-1 to 27-5-18 (1965, as amended through 2004), and adopting Rules and Regulations 
for the processing of said claims; and,

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Indigent Hospital Claims Board has seen the need to adopt 
Rules and Regulations for the processing of Indigent Hospital Claims; and, 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Indigent Hospital Claims Board desires to establish a 
maximum income for any individual who may seek to claim benefits under the Indigent 
Hospital Claims Act from Sierra County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Sierra County Board of Commissioners 
as follows: 

SECTION 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.1 Title.   This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as the “Sierra County Indigent 
Hospital/Health Care (IHC) Ordinance” and shall be referred to herein as the IHC 
Ordinance. 

1.2 Authority.  This Ordinance is created pursuant to the Indigent Hospital Claims and 
County Health Care Act, Section 27-5-1 NMSA 1978 et seq. 

1.3 Purpose.  The purpose of this ordinance is to assist the indigent residents of Sierra 
County to obtain health care.  To further this goal, the County has adopted this 
ordinance which recognized the County’s responsibility to assist indigents in paying 
for health care.  

1.4 Interpretation.  The County Manager shall interpret the meaning ot the provisions of 
this Ordinance.  Whenever any provision of this Ordinance conflicts with other laws, 
rules, regulations or ordinances, the more restrictive shall govern. 

1.5 Approval of Claims by the IHC Board.   All IHC Claims paid to eligible recipients 
shall be approved by the Board of County Commissioners, sitting as the IHC Board.   

1.6 Decision in Writing.  The IHC Board shall state in writing the reasons for their decision 
to approve or disapprove any claim.  



Page 3 of 15 

1.7 Administrative Expenses.   In accordance with Section 27-5-1 NMSA 1978, a 
percentage of funds received by the County shall be reserved and budgeted for 
administrative expenses.  The funds budgeted as administrative expenses shall not be 
available for payments of IHC Claims. 

1.8 Claims Subrogation.   The IHC Board is permitted to recover costs and payments in 
accordance with Section 27-5-14 and 27-5-15 NMSA 1978. 

1.9 Open Meetings.  The IHC Board shall conduct their meetings in accordance with the 
Open Meetings Act, Section 10-15-1 NMSA 1978. 

1.10 Appendices.  The schedules attached to this Ordinance as appendices may be revised, 
modified or amended by resolution of the Board of County Commissioners. 

1.11 Amendments.  Amendments to this Ordinance shall be approved by the IHC Board at a 
public hearing after providing notice of the public hearing in accordance with New 
Mexico State Statutes. 

1.12 Severability.  It is the intent of the governing body that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, 
clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph or section of the Ordinance shall be determined to be invalid for any  
reason, such invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 
paragraphs and sections of the Ordinance. 

SECTION II – DEFINITIONS 

The following terms are defined to be used for the purpose of this ordinance, regardless of 
common usage of such terms, or usage for other purposes. 

CLAIM:  Billing statements for an episode of illness, injury or other medical treatment as 
deemed necessary to an indigent patient. 

CLAIMANT:  A person who makes a claim for IHC assistance for medical services he or 
she received. 

CLAIMANT’S AGENT:  The individual authorized to provide consent for treatment of 
the claimant as specified in the New Mexico Hospital Association Legal Handbook. 

CLAIMANT’S REPRESENTATIVE:  The provider or individual that is authorized by 
the claimant or the claimant’s agent to submit a Formal Application on behalf of the 
claimant. 

CO-INSURANCE DAYS:  The total sum of money the patient is expected to pay as per 
co-insurance days which usually the sixty-first (61st) through the ninetieth (90th) day in 
each benefit period for which the patient pays the required amount per day himself.  The 
reserve period from the ninetieth (90th) day through the one hundred fiftieth   (150th) day 
for which the patient pays the required amount per day.  This reserve period is only sixth 
(60) days in the patient’s lifetime.
Definition is subject to change and will be applicable as defined in the Medicare Manual.



Page 4 of 15 

ELECTIVE SURGERY OR TREATMENT:  Non-emergency  hospital surgery or 
treatment, as recommended by physician(s).   This treatment is not medically necessary to 
the patient’s health or well-being, but can be requested by the patient. 

EMPLOYED OR CONTRACTED:  A physician that is employed by or contracts with a 
medical provider or provides services which are billed by the medical provider for the 
provider on routine, normal or regular basis.  

EMERGENCY:  Medical care required for a serious medical condition resulting from 
injury or illness that arises suddenly and required immediate care and treatment to avoid 
jeopardy to the life or health of an individual.  

HOME HEALTH AGENCY:  A profit or non-profit organization which provides 
Skilled Nursing Care, Physical Therapy, Speech or Occupational Therapy, Home Health 
Aide, medical supplies and prescribed medication to an indigent patient.  This 
organization is required to be certified and licensed by Medicare and the State of New 
Mexico. 

HOSPICE SERVICES:  An organization which provides care for the terminally ill 
patient which is licensed and certified by Medicare and the State of New Mexico.. These 
services include physicians’ services, skilled nursing care, physical and speech therapy, 
pastoral care, medically necessary prescribed medication related to terminal care, 
equipment, intravenous and other supplies. 

INDIGENT: “Indigent” is based on the definition of “indigent patient” pursuant to 
NMSA 27-5-4, Paragraph C, that defines indigent patient as persons to whom an 
ambulance service, a hospital or medical provider determined to be eligible under the 
provisions of the ordinance has provided medical care or ambulance transportation and 
who can normally support himself and his dependents on present income and liquid assets 
available to him but, taking into consideration this income and those assets and his 
requirement for other necessities of life for himself and his dependents, is unable to pay 
the cost of such medical services.  The policy of the IHC Board, established by the rules 
and regulations of this ordinance pursuant to NMSA 27-5-6, Paragraph C, specifies the 
provisions and criteria for determining which persons are qualified indigent persons and 
therefore eligible to receive IHC assistance, consistent with the above referenced statutory 
provision, that are deemed necessary to carry out the provisions of the Indigent Hospital 
and Health Care Act.  The IHC Board has permitted the use of the Sierra County IHC 
Income Schedule as a tool to be used to determine the income for an individual or family. 

LIQUID ASSETS:  Assets that can quickly or easily be converted to cash (bank accounts, 
CD’s, marketable securities, etc.). 

MEDICALLY INDIGENT:  An individual that needs medical care or treatment, but due 
to their individual circumstances are financially unable to pay the cost of such treatment.  
An individual that earns up to 150% of the Federal Poverty Guidelines is medically 
indigent for the purposes of this Ordinance. 

MEDICAL PROVIDER:  Any general or limited care certified hospital, institution or 
agency that is properly licensed and certified to provide medical services, and may be 



Page 5 of 15 

eligible to receive IHC reimbursement for medical services based on the provisions 
specified in this ordinance. 
 
NON-EMERGENCY SURGERY OR TREATMENT:  The treatment or surgical 
procedure that is not for an emergency condition, but is medically necessary to the well 
being of the patient.  This treatment is eligible for assistance. 
 
NON-EMERGENCY TRANSPORTATION:  The transporting of indigent patients by a 
non-emergency vehicle.  This type of transport does not require any medical treatment to 
be rendered to the patient, unless as otherwise specified in the provider agreement with the 
Department of Transportation. 

 
OUTPATIENT HOSPITAL SERVICES:  Hospital sponsored ambulatory care service 
for medical or surgical treatment of one or more organizational units, or components 
thereof, of the hospital, that are under the responsibility of the hospital and through which 
non-emergency health services are provided to patients who do not need to remain the 
hospital overnight as defined in the JCAH Manual.  Outpatient services are provided by 
Home Health Agencies, Hospice Providers, and Community Health Centers. 
 
PRENATAL SERVICES:  A patient uses the same process and making an application 
with the County.  The Indigent Hospital/Health Care Office pre-approves the eligible 
patient for services within three (3) days of receiving the application. 
 
PRIMARY HEALTH CARE:  Means the first level of basic or general health care for an 
individual’s health needs, including medical and dental diagnostic and treatment services, 
prescribed medication, referrals and supportive services.  All dental services must be 
provided in coordination with primary medical services.  Primary medical services are 
those provided as part of general family practice, obstetrics, gynecology, pediatrics, 
general surgery, or general internal medicine. 
 
PRO-RATA FORMULA:  Approval or payment of ICH claims when different hospital 
or ambulance providers are involved in the treatment of a patient will be based on a 
percentage of the charges pro-rated to the amount of total claims submitted within a ninety 
(90) day period from the beginning date of the treatment.  The Pro-Rated percentage of all 
claims will be calculated from each provider and will be paid their percentage of the 
determined yearly maximum limit per claim. 

 
Section III – IHC Eligibility Provision 
 
3.1 Individuals Eligible for IHC Assistance.  Individuals are eligible for IHC assistance if 

(1) they qualify as medically indigent; and (2) they have been residents of Sierra 
County for at least ninety (90) days. 

 
3.2 Individuals Not Eligible for IHC Assistance.  Individuals are not eligible for 

assistance if (1) they are eligible for medical assistance from the NM Human Services 
Department as specified in Section 27-5-3 NMSA 1978; (2) do not qualify as 
medically indigent; (3) do not meet the residency requirements; or (4) individuals 
under the age of 18, unless the individual is married or emancipated. 

 



Page 6 of 15 

3.3 Residency Requirements.  All eligible individuals must be residents of Sierra County 
for at least ninety (90) days prior to receiving medical services.  Claimants must 
provide proof of residency such as : (1) A copy of Sierra County Driver’s 
License/Picture I.D; (2) A notarized Proof of Residency form completed by a non-
related landlord or individual verifying that the patient has resided in Sierra County 
for at least ninety (90) days; (3) voter registration; (4) payment receipt of a utility bill, 
rental agreement, etc.  College students attending college outside of the County shall 
be considered primary residents of Sierra County.  

 
3.4 Medically Indigent Persons Eligibility. In addition to residency requirements, a 

claimant is qualified as medically indigent and eligible to receive IHC assistance if 
the person or the person’s spouse or dependent, is determined under the provisions of 
this Ordinance to be unable to pay for eligible medical treatment or care that has been 
received after the individual has attempted to make payment and has exhausted all 
other financial resources for such payment ot the extent possible, taking in 
consideration the person’s income and family’s size based on the following provisions 
and criteria; 

 
A. Basic Eligible Annual Income Criteria.  In order to be qualified as    

medically indigent and eligible for IHC assistance, a claimant’s annual 
household income as determined in Paragraph 3.4C of this Section, shall not 
be greater than 150% of the Federal Income Guidelines. 

 
B. Payment by Claimant.  Once claimant is deemed as eligible, the  
      claimant, claimant’s spouse and/or dependent(s) must agree to exhaust   
      every financial resource of the family, to the extent possible, to make   
      payment(s) of their medical bills.  This includes all insurance or other  
      programs or funding assistance available to the claimant. 
      Claimants are eligible to receive IHC assistance for insurance       

           deductibles, Medicare deductibles, co-insurance days or co-insurance  
            pay. 

 
C. Determination of Annual Income.  The income indicated on claimant’s   
      most recent Federal or State income tax return will be accepted as the    
      claimant’s annual income, unless the claimant’s income has changed due   
      to a loss of a job, a substantial decrease or increase to income.  In these   
      circumstances, the current monthly income shall be taken into   
      consideration in order to determine eligibility.  Pay stubs or some other   
      form may be used to verify this change to income.  The claimant is  
      required to provide a complete Federal or State income tax return, the  
      claimant is required to complete a notarized tax waiver form with an  
      attached copy of the claimant’s social security card. 
 

(1) Claimants that own their business must additionally submit a Profit     
       and Loss Statement prepared by a CPA in order to be considered for    
       IHC funding. 
 
(2) IHC Income.  The County utilizes the Federal Poverty Guidelines as a 

measure for eligibility, and allows the IHC staff to use the adjusted 
gross income based on the number of individuals in a house hold or 



Page 7 of 15 

family. An expectant mother’s unborn child will be included in 
determining the family or household eligibility. 

 
(3) Child support payments will be considered in determining the  
       annual income of claimant. 
 
(4) Medical Garnishments will be a deduction for establishing  
       household income. 
 
(5) Medical Spend Down:  Claimants annual income may be reduced by   
       the amount of regular payments made to medical providers within  
       the previous twelve (12) months, if the payments are for services that   
       were not covered by this policy. 

 
D. Assets.  A household that has liquid assets in the amount of $20,000 or  
      less and an individual which has liquid assets in the amount of $10,000    
      or less will be eligible for indigent health care claims assistance. 

 
3.5 Medical Providers Eligible for IHC Approval or Reimbursement. 
 

1. A general or limited hospital licensed by the Department of Health, whether    
      owned by a political subdivision, not-for-profit or for-profit corporation, or a  
      licensed out-of-state  hospital, approved by the Department of Health, where  
      treatment provided is necessary for the proper care of an indigent patient when  
      that care is not available in an in-state hospital. 
 
2. An in-state home health agency licensed and certified by Medicare and the State 

of New Mexico. 
 
3. An in-state hospice which is licensed and certified by Medicare and the State of 

New Mexico. 
 

4. An in-state ambulance provider. 
 

5. Behavioral health providers eligible medical care and treatment services as 
specified by this Ordinance. 

 
6. Licensed Medical Doctor, Osteopathic Physician, Dentist, Optometrist or 

Expanded Practice Nurse who provides emergency services in a hospital to an 
Indigent patient. 

 
Only the above-listed medical providers are eligible for IHC reimbursements. 

   
3.6 Medical Treatment Eligibility and Payment.  Eligible persons may receive IHC  
       assistance for medical care and treatment received from an eligible medical       

provider as listed in Section 3.5.  Whenever insurance or Medicare payments exceed 
the established payment percentage, or limit, no approval of  payment will be made.  
Should the insurance or Medicare payment fall below the determined annual 
percentage, the applicant may be assisted with the remaining balance.  In 
circumstances where there are multiple providers and the medical expenses will reach 



Page 8 of 15 

the maximum limitation amount, the Pro-Rata formula will be used to calculate the 
amount of reimbursement to each medical provider.  IHC claims will be based on the 
order that expenses for treatment are incurred up to the maximum.  Payment will be   

           made in the order claims are approved by the IHC Board. 
 

A. Claim Eligibility and Limitations for IHC Approvals or Payment. The Indigent   
Hospital and Health Care Act Section 27-5-1 (NMSA 1978) limits approvals or   
payments to “actual costs” for hospital care normally consisting of general 
medical treatment, and shall not exceed the determined established annual 
limits per patient and providers as set forth by the IHC Board in Appendix 1.  
Application for IHC payment may be submitted after the treatment is complete, 
or after the billing or the treatment is received. 

 
(1) Ambulance transportation – These services are allowed based upon the 

expense incurred to include the care and transport of a patient to the 
“nearest” general or limited hospital.  Claims that reach the maximum 
allowed policy limit may be subject to the Pro-Rata payment formula 
whenever there are multiple providers. 

 
(2) Home Health Services – These services are allowed based on the actual 

need of the patient.  Services include supplies, skilled nursing services, 
home health aids, prescribed medication, physical therapy, occupational 
and speech therapy.  These services should be provided as deemed 
necessary for the patient’s care and reimbursed to the provider at the rates 
specified on the provider agreement.  The total sum of IHC payments shall 
be considered as a separate expense above any other medical claim limits 
and shall be limited to the established annual limit per patient.  Services 
must be provided by a contracted home health provider licensed and 
certified by Medicare and the State of New Mexico.  The total payments to 
a contracted home health service provider shall not exceed the established 
annual limit as determined by the IHC Board. 

        
(3) Hospice Care Service – These services are allowed based on the actual 

need of the patient.  The total sum of IHC payments for these services shall 
be considered as a separate expense form the other medical claim limits.  
The total sum of IHC payments for these services shall be considered as a 
separate expense from the other medical claim limits.  The total sum of 
IHC payments for these services shall be considered as a separate expense 
from the other medical claim limits.  The total sum of payment shall not 
exceed the established annual limit per patient. The total payment to a 
contracted Hospice provider shall not exceed the established annual limit 
as determined by the IHC Board. 

 
(4) Mental Health Services – One claim per fiscal year will be permitted or 

psychiatric treatment services rendered by a contracted behavioral health 
care provider.  One treatment for attempted suicide will also be permitted 
within the same fiscal year.  The combination of both of these treatments 
will not exceed the determined policy limit for approval or payment as set 
fort by the IHC Board. 

 



Page 9 of 15 

(5) Pregnancy-related Claims – One or more obstetrical deliveries or   
pregnancy-related illnesses shall not exceed the established fiscal year 
claim limit for each eligible individual.  This includes the cost of the 
prenatal care clinic, delivery charges, and possibly the payment of the 
newborn charge. 

 
(6) Substance Abuse -  IHC approval or payment is available for only one 

inpatient substance abuse claim when deemed medically necessary, as well 
as unlimited outpatient substance abuse claims.  However, the sum of both 
inpatient and outpatient treatment cannot exceed the policy limit.  Also, the 
total sum of all IHC payments to any approved behavioral health care 
provider shall not exceed the established annual limit per provider. 
 

(7) Primary Care Services - Primary care services are provided to individuals 
for the basic or general health care needs of the patient. 

 
(8)  Physicians - A licensed medical doctor, certified registered nurse 

anesthetist, certified nurse practitioner, osteopathic physician, dentist, 
optometrist or  expanded practice nurse when providing emergency 
services, as determined by the IHC Administrator, in a hospital to an 
indigent patient; or a licensed medical doctor or osteopathic physician, 
dentist, optometrist or expanded practice nurse when providing services in 
an outpatient setting, as determined by the IHC Administrator, to an 
indigent patient with life threatening illness or disability. 

 
          (9) Other services.  The IHC Administrator may allow other services which will 
  benefit all indigent patients as deemed necessary. 

 
B. Claims Not Eligible for Payment.  The following claims are not eligible for   
     payment: (1) hospital elective surgery or treatment; (2) nursing home care;           
     (3) medical social worker; (4) nutrition counseling; and (5) primary care co-
pays and prescription co-pays. 

 
3.7 Detainees.  Individuals arrested by the Sierra County Sheriff’s Office and/or detained 

by Sierra County shall be considered medically indigent for the purpose of this 
Ordinance. 

 
SECTION IV – APPLICATION FOR IHC ASSISTANCE. 
 
4.1 IHC Application Provisions.  The provisions of this Section are required in order for 

an application to be accepted and considered by the County for IHC assistance. 
 
4.2 Applicant Cooperation.  Failure of applicant’s cooperation in providing the County 

authorization to obtain information is grounds for denial of application. 
 

4.3 Application Submissions. An application may be submitted after treatment is 
complete or after the billing for the treatment is received. 

 



Page 10 of 15 

4.4 Acceptance of IHC Applications. The County, at its discretion, may refuse to accept 
any application that does not include all required information or documents requested 
by the County. 

 
4.5 Application Verification.  Formal applications shall include but not be limited to the 

following: 
 

A. Name, address and other personal identification of the patient/claimant as deemed 
appropriate by the County. 

 
B. Name of patient/claimant, agency, medical provider, or other representative 

submitting the application.  If other than the patient, the application shall include 
specific authorization in writing, signed by the claimant, or the patient’s agent if 
the patient is unable to sign, that the representative is authorized to submit the 
application on their behalf. 

 
C. Proof of residency to include Sierra County Driver’s License/Picture I.D., voter 

registration, and/or other information as deemed necessary by the County to verify 
residency requirements. 

 
D. Proof of income to include Federal or State tax returns, pay stubs, and/or other 

information as deemed necessary by the County to verify annual income and 
availability of assets.  If the claimant does not file a current return, a notarized tax 
waiver form must be completed.  The claimant will be required to provide a  copy 
of his or her social security card along with the tax waiver form. 

 
E. The claimant must not be eligible for Medicaid or other assistance provided by the 

State of New Mexico Human Services Department, unless a written denial from 
Medicaid for financial ineligibility is received and submitted with the IHC 
Application. 

 
F. Evidence to verify that all other sources of payment such as insurance, Medicare, 

Medicaid etc. will make payment or that a pay source is not available due to 
patient’s ineligibility or due to the provider’s failure to submit a claim to the 
appropriate agency, which resulted in a denial to the payee. 

 
G. Itemized bills which include the treating diagnosis of all charges submitted for 

IHC approval or payment that have been billed by an eligible medical provider.  
These billings will be based on provisions of Section 4 of this Ordinance.  Claims 
with multiple providers may be held open for sixty (60) days in order for all 
providers to submit their bills.  Payments will be based on the pro-rata formula. 

 
4.6 Application Deadline.  A formal application with the required documentation, must     
be submitted to the County IHC office no later than ninety (90) days from the first date 
medical treatment or services were received.  Claims received after the ninety (90) day 
deadline will not be considered for payment, unless the County IHC Administrator 
determines that an exception can be made due to extraordinary circumstances. 
 

A. The applicant will have ninety (90) days in which to file with the medical  
      provider that rendered services.  The claimant must provide the necessary   



Page 11 of 15 

      documentation to this provider unless the medical provider is located  
      outside the County.  In this circumstance, the applicant must return the   
      completed application to the County IHC office. 
      If the additional requested information is not received within the allotted    
      time, the claim will be closed.  Once the claim is complete, the claim will be     
      approved at the next scheduled monthly IHC Board meeting. 
 
B. All approved applications will be considered complete and current for one  

(1) year from the date in which the application is executed.  
 Any claims received after an application is approved, the provider will be 
expected to complete a supplemental claim form.  The notarized supplement 
form must be signed by the adult patient to authorize the medical provide to 
release necessary information to process the claim.  After the time limit has 
expired for the current application, a new application will be requested with all 
required documentation attached. 
 

C. When a patient is covered by insurance, Medicare or another pay source, the 
ninety (90) day claim limit will begin with the date that the pay source made 
the first payment on the claim.  In circumstances in which a denial has been 
received by the provider, the ninety (90) day limit will revert to the original 
date of the denial. 

 
4.7 Application Confidentiality.  All information regarding the claimant shall be kept 

strictly confidential. 
 
SECTION V. – PROVISION FOR IHC APPROVAL OR REIMBURSEMENT TO 
MEIDCAL PROVIDERS 
 
5.1 Reimbursement To Medical Providers.  Approvals or reimbursement of IHC funds by 

the County shall be made to eligible medical providers based on seventy seven 
percent (77%) of the actual billed charges or one hundred percent (100%) of the 
Medicaid rate, whichever is the lessor thereof, for eligible treatment not to exceed the 
established claim limit, except that approvals or reimbursement of IHC funds by the 
County shall be made to eligible medical providers based of the entire of the actual 
billed charges or one hundred percent (100%) of the Medicaid rate, whichever is the 
lessor thereof, for eligible treatment of individuals committed to the custody of the 
Sierra County Detention Center.  Charges shall be submitted on itemized bills with 
the treating diagnosis form the medical provide(s).  The charges for such services 
shall not exceed the normal charges to other patients.  Approvals or reimbursements 
will be made to medical providers after obtaining authorization from the IHC Board. 

 
5.2 Overcharges.  Any medical provider found to be overcharging or billing greater than 

the normal charges to other patients for itemized services reimbursed by IHC payment 
is in violation of the provisions of this Ordinance.  The IHC Board may, at its 
discretion, reduce the IHC payment of billed charges to a percentage between 20% 
and 65% of billed charges.  The reduced percentage of payment may be assessed for 
any length of period up to twelve (12) months.  The provider shall be given the 
opportunity to provide its justification and documentation to the County prior to such 
action being implemented.  The County may, at its discretion, hire an independent 



Page 12 of 15 

auditor paid for by the medical provider to determine overcharges.  Medical providers 
shall provide to the County or its representative all information requested to verify 
charges. 

 
5.3 Reimbursement Limited to Available Funds.  Outstanding IHC claims that have been 

approved by the IHC Board will be paid by the County to each eligible medical 
provider with available Indigent Fund revenues that have been received by the 
County.  Payment will be made based on the order of approved claims by the IHC 
Board.  If revenues are all exhausted or encumbered, the outstanding claims will be 
paid based upon: (1) the order of approval by the IHC Board; (2) current complete 
claims; and (3) aging claims which have been completed. 

 
5.4 Withholding of IHC Payments.  IHC payments shall be withheld pending the 

disposition of medical payments form other possible sources, such as insurance, 
workers’ compensation, or State and Federal funding that may cover the expenses.  
Upon evidence that the other possible sources will not make payment, IHC funds may 
be approved for payment consistent with the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
5.5 Screening and Collections By Providers.  The medical provider is required to screen 

all potential IHC Claimants and determine if the claimant will have a remaining 
balance, a reasonable payment schedule will be made. 

 
5.6 Claims, Preparation, and Verification by Providers.  The medical provider shall assist 

the claimant in correctly and accurately preparing the formal application to be 
submitted to the County, and shall use all resources available to screen and verify the 
information submitted by the claimant for a final decision by the IHC Board. 

 
5.7 Disclosure by Medical Providers. Medical providers shall provide to the County 

reports, financial statements, random samples of paid bills or other information 
deemed necessary by the IHC Board or its representatives. 

 
5.8 Limitation for Collection by Provider.  The medical provider is required to write off 

ninety percent (90%) of the remaining balance.  The medical provider shall not pursue 
collection of a service whenever the provider is at fault in not submitting the patient’s 
charges within the ninety (90) day filing limit and the patient has cooperated and 
submitted all documents necessary to process their claim. 

 
5.9 Agreement between County and Provider.  All medical providers that are eligible for 

approval or reimbursement of IHC funds shall enter into an agreement with the 
County agreeing to abide by all provisions of this Ordinance prior to receiving any 
IHC funds.  The medical provider shall submit copies of their state license and annual 
certification as part of this ongoing agreement.  The IHC office should receive a copy 
of the renewed certification annually. 

 
SECTION VI – APPEALS 
 
6.1 County IHC Board or IHC Administrator.  Any person or medical provider who is 

adversely affected by a decision of the IHC Administrator may appeal that decision to 
the IHC Board within (15) days after the date of the action of the County IHC 



Page 13 of 15 

Administrator.  The IHC Board shall hear the appeal and render a decision in writing 
within sixty (60) days after receiving the Notice of Appeal. 

 
6.2 IHC Board.   Any person or medical provider who is adversely affected by a decision 

of the IHC Board may appeal that decision to the District Court within thirty (30) 
days of the action of the Board. 

 
SECTION VII – PENALTIES 
 
7.1  Criminal Penalties.  Any person or medical provider who intentionally violates the 
provision of this ordinance shall be punished by a fine not to exceed Three Hundred 
Dollars ($300.00) or imprisonment in the County Detention Center of not more than 
ninety (90) days, or both, in accordance with Section 4-37-3 NMSA 1978.  In addition, the 
person or medical provider will be required to reimburse or credit the fund. 
 
SECTION VIII – REPEALER 
 
8.1  The rules contained herein replace and supersede all previously issued rules, 
resolutions, regulations and ordinances applicable to the subject matter that is covered in 
this Ordinance, including without limitation, Sierra County Ordinance 10-004.  

 
 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 21st day of November, 2023. 
 
 
__________________________    
TRAVIS DAY, CHAIR 
 
 
__________________________    ATTEST BY:   
JAMES PAXON, VICE-CHAIR 
        ______________________________ 

SHELLY TRUJILLO, COUNTY CLERK 
__________________________  
HANK HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 14 of 15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 
INDIGENT HOSPITAL/HEALTH CARE CLAIM LIMITS 

 
POLICY   MEDICAL         TYPE OF CARE 
LIMIT   SERVICES  
 
$15,000* Hospital         General medical treatment, or acute services  

care.  Services may be out-patient or in-patient    
treatment. Includes the cost of cancer   
treatment  

 
$2,500  Ambulance                       Ambulance transportation by ground or air to  

 nearest facility. 
 
$2,500  Mental and      This care is limited to one treatment each as  
   Suicidal Treatment   deemed  necessary for the patient.  The  

combination of both of  these treatments shall   
 not exceed the fiscal year limit.  

 
 
$ 3,000  Substance Abuse Treatment   This care is limited to only one in-patient  

treatment; however, patient treatment is    
unlimited as long as the sum of both in-patient  
and out-patient treatment does not exceed the    
established policy limit.  Provider is  limited  
to $30,000 per fiscal year. 

 
$ 2,500   Home Health Care     Medical care and treatment as deemed  

   necessary for  the patient each fiscal year in  
   accordance with Section 3.5, (2). Evidence to   
   verify is required. Contracted provider is  
   limited to $20,000 per fiscal year. 

 
$ 2,500 Hospice Care       Medical care and treatment as deemed  

    necessary for the care of the patient.  Each  
    contracted provider will be limited to  
    $20,000 per fiscal year. 

 
$2,500 Prenatal & Maternity       A lifetime of three pregnancies will be  
  Related Service        allowed per client.  The fiscal year limit will  
           include the cost for   prenatal care, obstetric   

     charges, newborn charges** and  
     miscarriages.  Provider limit will not exceed  
     $20,000 in any fiscal year. 

 
$2,500                                ER Physicians                                      Reimburse for medical care administered, as  
          determined by the board, on emergency basis 
          only at a Hospital, at Medicaid fee-for-service 
          rates. Contracted providers limited to $20,000 
          per fiscal year.     
 
*Services that will exceed the annual claim limit will be pro-rated for reimbursement to each medical provider 
which rendered the patient’s treatment or care.  



Page 15 of 15 

 **Newborn charges which incur complications and will exceed the established mother’s limit will be 
established as a separate claim. 
 
Note: The approved limits indicated on this appendix are subject to change each fiscal year based on the 
amount of the Indigent Fund Revenues received.   


	Ord 23-005 Codifying NM Enabling Act
	ORD 23-006 IHC
	Agenda
	NOV 14th Meeting Minutes
	RES 110-200 AP
	Res 110-201 Budget
	RES 110-202 Indigent
	Indigent Burial 23-009
	Claim of Exemption 23-005
	November Reconciliation
	Donation of Ambulance EB to CVFD
	Amendment #1 Wilson & Co - Fairgrounds
	Agreement Lynco Electric Co
	Agreement RLC Services
	Olive tree- Reset Grant- Contract
	Tremco/WTI-CES Preliminary Approval
	Lenco- Bearcat Armor Truck- Sheriff- HGAC Buy
	Res 110-203 Holiday Calendar 2024
	Res 110-204 LERF Funding Approval
	Res 110-205 Authorizing Sale Tangible Property
	Resolution 110-206 Indigent Cremation and Unclaimed Decedents
	ORD 23-005 Codifying the NM Enabling Act
	ORD 23-006 IHC

